
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE,
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX

Telephone:  01730 266551
Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Monday, 12 February 2018

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership:      Councillor I Thomas (Chairman)

Councillors R Ayer (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, K Budden, K Carter, 
F Cowper, N Drew, D Evans, A Glass, M Johnson, A Joy, C Louisson, 
R Mocatta, D Orme, D Phillips, S Pond, S Schillemore and A Williams

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS)

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: Friday, 2 February 2018

Contact Officer: Lisa Papps 01730 234073
Email:  lisa.papps@easthants.gov.uk

Working in Partnership



ii

Page Nos
1. Apologies for Absence  

To receive and record any apologies for absence.

2. Confirmation of Minutes  

Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes.

Minutes of the meeting held on 11 January 2018, circulated under 
separate cover.

3. Chairman's Announcements  

To receive any announcements that the Chairman may wish to make 
for information.

4. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter.

Matters for Decision

5. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  

To accept the Supplementary Matters to be considered as part of the 
Planning Officer’s Report on Planning Applications.

6. Future Items  

These items are for information purposes only. They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are 
still not yet ready for consideration or are recently received 
applications that are not ready to be considered by the Committee or 
determined under the Scheme of Delegation. The purpose of this 
report is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that 
any issues that they raise are highlighted at an early stage. 
Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits under this 
item.

9 - 10



iii

7. Report of the Head of Planning  

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items

Section I

7.(i)  21068/041 - Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, 
GU34 1ST  
Sports and Leisure Management Limited

Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 
21068/040 - Replacement sports centre (Use Class D2) up to 8,500 
sqm gross external floor area together with parking structure and 
other car parking (up to 250 spaces); Construction of outdoor floodlit, 
fenced synthetic turf pitches; vehicular, pedestrian and cycle routes; 
landscaping, including tree planting and sustainable urban drainage. 
Earthworks, implementation of appropriate remediation works and 
felling of trees following demolition of the existing sports centre 
building; removal of the existing synthetic sports pitches, floodlighting 
and fencing. (Access, Appearance, Landscaping, Layout, and Scale 
to be considered) [Supplementary information and amended plans 
received 11/12/2017, 21/12/2017, 8/1/2018 and 1/2/2018]

11 - 52

7.(ii)  53523/009 - Land to west of Highgate House, Lyeway Lane, 
Ropley, Alresford  
Mr & Mrs Cole

Retention of gypsy and traveller site for one pitch in addition to its 
lawful use as a timber yard with paddocks.

53 - 74

7.(iii)  49776/001 - Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton  
Tanvale Holdings Ltd

Outline application - Development of up to 7ha of employment 
floorspace (use classes B1a (office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general 
industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution) with associated access 
(submitted for detailed approval), and green infrastructure. (Access 
only to be considered) (additional information received on 08/05/2017, 
26/05/2017 and 10/11/2017).

75 - 104

Section II

There are no Section II items within this agenda.



iv

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items

Section I

8.(i)  SDNP/17/06038/HOUS - 8 Rival Moor Road, Petersfield, 
GU31 4HB  
Mr Alex Stone

Two storey extension to rear.

105 - 118

Section II

There are no Section II items within this agenda.



v





vii

Page Nos
GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority.

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can 
determine planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area 
of the district on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South 
Downs National Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP. 

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT

The report is divided into two main parts; 

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.  

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which 
the Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National 
Park Authority.  

Each part of the report is split into two sections:  

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations 

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, 
details of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items.

Section 2 – Other matters 

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse. No formal presentation will 
be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be no public participation.”

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are 



understood to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in 
advance of the Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports 
may have been prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or 
neighbour comment.  Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially 
amended between preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where 
additional information has been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper 
will be circulated at the meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to 
members of the public.

3. PLANNING POLICY

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material 
policies or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application 
should be determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are 
other material considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and 
other material considerations will also be taken into account.  One such 
consideration will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The 
relevant development plans are the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East 
Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 2014 and the saved policies in the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the  report on each item.  

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states:  “Planning 
law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”  

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development 
that departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it 
should proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-
date in terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also 
fairly and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters 
of what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in 
land-use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 
landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.  



4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are:
 loss of property value  loss of view
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants
 the impact of construction work  property maintenance issues
 need for development (save in 

certain defined circumstances)
 the identity or personal characteristics of 

the applicant
 competition between firms,  or matters that are dealt with by other 

legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not a 
reason to refuse planning permission or 
defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation.

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  
Nevertheless, where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to 
relevant considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.  

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because 
there are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its 
merits in the light of all the material considerations. 

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a 
clear land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way 
that is clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special 
and precise justification. 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations 
should meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be: 
 necessary;
 relevant to planning;
 directly related to the proposed development;
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and
 reasonable in all other respects.

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that 



planning permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for 
unacceptable development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements 
offered by a developer, which are not necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration 
to be taken into account when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it 
is for the Council to decide what weight should be attached to a particular material 
consideration. 

6. PLANNING APPEALS 
Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it:

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time.

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance.

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show 
clearly, why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be

 complete, 
 precise, 
 specific
 relevant to the application, and
 supported by substantiated evidence. 

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice 

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence.

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal 
but rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision.

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed.

The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council:
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF,
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach. 
An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 54 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site,



(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law,
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable,

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the 
planning authority where circumstances have not materially changed,

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances,

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage,

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions,

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 204 of the NPPF, or

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters.

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an 
application to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. 
In general, this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State 
will not interfere with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is 
necessary to do so.  The Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of 
development proposals that directs local authorities to consult with the Secretary of 
State before granting planning permission.

8. PROPRIETY

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in 
planning matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning 
applications they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can 
include views expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support 
for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, 
unless it is founded upon valid planning reasons. 

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS 

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the 
public interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and 
private interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not 
whether owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial 
or other loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would 



unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought 
to be protected in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of 
private property are therefore not material planning consideration.

10.OTHER LEGISLATION 

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular: 

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities. 

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for 
providing a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by 
providing a lower standard of service. 

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain 
and promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic 
rights of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in 
order to protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific 
Articles of the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and 
public hearing), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of 
property).  All planning applications are assessed to make sure that the 
subsequent determination of the development proposal is compatible with the 
Act.  If there is a potential conflict, this will be highlighted in the report on the 
relevant item.

11.PUBLIC SPEAKING

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak 
must have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 
hours before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at 
the Committee meeting itself.

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will 
be allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the 
Committee meeting.  

12. INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The 

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


files and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect.

13.FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the 
event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s 
decision.  Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications 
may result in the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning 
appeal.  Officers will aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide 
appropriate advice in such circumstances.

Simon Jenkins
Head of Planning 

Background Papers:

 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case)
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements
 any other document specifically referred to in the report.





PLANNING COMMITTEE

1 February 2018

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT

The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits 
under this item.

Reference Description and Address
1 55587/072 Reserved matters application pursuant to outline 

application 55587/001 for 138 dwellings and open space 
including a section of the Green Loop (Formerly Havannah 
Mess and land parcel to the east of Havannah Officer’s 
mess) 

MOD Development Site, Oakhanger Road, Bordon

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

2 55587/075 Reserved matters application pursuant to outline 
application 55587/001 – Erection of a Leisure Centre 
within the new town centre including details of vehicular, 
pedestrian and cycle access, building elevations and 
external materials, internal building layout and details of 
building height and proportions in relation to surrounding 
context and within parameters set by the outline planning 
consent

Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, 
Bordon

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.



3 30016/031 Redevelopment of Agricultural Yard, manege and 
adjoining land for 10 retirement bungalows; access roads 
and pedestrian/cycle links; hard and soft landscaping and 
communal open space; foul and surface water drainage 
systems; and other works

Land south of Oaklands House, Redhill Road, 
Rowlands Castle

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

4 33125/048 Retention and continued use of agricultural buildings as 
Class B1(c) (part retrospective)

Woolmer Farm, Woolmer Lane, Bramshott, Liphook, 
GU30 7RD

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

5 SDNP/17/06506/FUL Erection of 77 dwellings

Land north east of Andlers Ash Nursery, Andlers Ash 
Road, Liss, Hampshire

The South Downs National Park Authority has directed that 
this application will be dealt with by that Authority.  It has 
been included in this section for information only.



Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST        21068/41



PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

12 February 2018

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Item No.: 01

PROPOSAL Approval of reserved matters pursuant to outline permission 
21068/040 - Replacement sports centre (Use Class D2) up to 8,500 
sqm gross external floor area together with parking structure and 
other car parking (up to 250 spaces); Construction of outdoor 
floodlit, fenced synthetic turf pitches; vehicular, pedestrian and 
cycle routes; landscaping, including tree planting and sustainable 
urban drainage.  Earthworks, implementation of appropriate 
remediation works and felling of trees following demolition of the 
existing sports centre building; removal of the existing synthetic 
sports pitches, floodlighting and fencing. (Access, Appearance, 
Landscaping, Layout, and Scale to be considered) 
[Supplementary information and amended plans received 
11/12/2017, 21/12/2017, 8/1/2018 and 1/2/2018]

LOCATION: Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST
REFERENCE 
NO:

21068/041 PARISH: Alton

APPLICANT:  Sports and Leisure Management Limited
CONSULTATION EXPIRY 
DATE:

21 November 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY DATE: 18 January 2018
COUNCILLOR(S) Cllr G Hill
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION



The application is reported to the Planning Committee for determination as it involves 
development on land owned by East Hampshire District Council.

The purpose of this application is to consider matters that were reserved at the outline 
stage, namely layout, appearance, scale and landscaping only.

Site and Development

Site

Alton Sports Centre is an East Hampshire District Council owned sports facility located on the 
south-eastern side of Chawton Park Road, Alton around 1.5km to the west of the town centre. 
It is operated by Sports and Leisure Management (the applicant) on behalf of the Council.  The 
site extends to an area of approximately 3.29 hectares and is occupied by a principal sports 
centre building constructed in 1973, which is of two storey scale and constructed of profiled 
metal sheet above a blockwork ground floor base.  A floodlit artificial sports pitch is located to 
the north-east of the sports centre.  The facility is served via a main car parking area to the 
south-east, which is linked to the centre via a bridge that crosses over an internal access road.  
Further parking areas are located around the perimeter of the site.  Ground levels rise across 
the site to the south-east, with the sports centre and pitches being raised above the level of 
Chawton Park Road. 

The sports centre is located on the south-western edge of Alton, with established residential 
development in Connaught Way / Florence Way to the north, adjacent to Alton Community 
Hospital, with further housing to the north-east along Chawton Park Road and Winstreet Close.  
Alton Cardiac Rehabilitation Centre is located adjacent to the north-eastern site boundary, with 
Alton Bowling Club and a Girl Guide HQ beyond.  Alton Tennis Club is located adjacent to the 
north-eastern corner of the site.  A terrace of eight residential dwellings in Gurdons are sited to 
the south-east of the Sports Centre, with the Mid Hampshire Heritage Railway beyond.  Jubilee 
Playing Fields and associated sports pavilion border the site to the west.

The majority of the site is shown to be within the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) for Alton, 
with only the car parking area to the north of Jubilee Playing Fields outside the SPB.  Jubilee 
Playing Fields itself falls within the Alton / Chawton Local Gap.  The Butts Conservation Area 
is situated in the Butts Road / Whitedown Lane area, around 500 metres to the north-east of 
the site.  The boundary to the South Downs National Park is located on the southern side of 
the A31 approximately 300 metres to the south of the site.  A Grade II listed store building 
associated with the Lord Treloars Museum is located on the northern side of Chawton Park 
Road opposite to the sports centre building.  The site is within the area covered by the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan.



Development

The application seeks approval of reserved matters, following the grant of outline planning 
permission in September 2015, for the demolition of the Alton Sports Centre building and the 
removal of the synthetic sports pitches, and a replacement facility comprising a sports centre, 
synthetic turf pitches, additional car parking and revisions to the access arrangements at the 
site.  The reserved matters relate to access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale.

The submitted drawings show that the sports centre building would be located on the site of the 
artificial sports pitches to the east of the centre.  This would enable the new sports centre 
building to be constructed whilst the existing centre is still operating and when completed, would 
then allow for the current sports centre building to be demolished and be replaced with new 
artificial sports pitches.  This would allow a continuity in operation of the sports centre, although 
there would be a temporary period where the artificial sports pitches have been taken out of 
use.  Phasing of the development has been secured through Condition 3 of the outline planning 
permission.

The plans show that the sports centre would have an “L” shaped footprint, with 
accommodation provided over two storeys.  The design of the building shows a contemporary 
design with the incorporation of glazed facades and projecting canopy to the main entrance 
and to the Chawton Road frontage, and the use of horizontal Siberian Larch Cladding, dark 
grey brick and micro rib composite cladding panels for the walls and a gently sloping 
monopitch roof with standing seams.  The massing of the building is largest to the western 
elevation, which forms the principal elevation and entrance into the facility, the scale and 
massing stepping down towards the neighbouring building to the east.  Minor remodelling of 
the existing ground levels would take place to provide additional car parking, the replacement 
sports pitches and pedestrian access from Chawton Park Road.

The building would provide the following facilities:

Ground Floor
 Reception with café area
 Climbing and soft play area
 25 x 13 metre 6 lane swimming pool and 15 x 10 metre learner pool with moveable 

floor
 6 court sports hall
 Spa with hydro pool, sauna and steam room
 Holistic studio

First Floor
 Fitness suite
 Spin studio
 Fitness studio
 2 squash courts



Vehicular access to the site would be similar to the current arrangements, with access from 
Chawton Park Road, and retention of the exit via a cutting.  Alterations are shown to the 
parking area, to increase the number of parking spaces with further spaces provided within a 
new parking area on part of the site of the existing centre, and revisions to the parking 
arrangements on the areas to the south and east of the building.  The sports centre currently 
has 146 parking spaces, which would be increased by 86 spaces, giving a total provision of 
232 spaces.  Secure covered parking for 20 cycles is shown adjacent to the entrance, an 
increase in 10 above the current provision.  A new pedestrian and cycle access would be 
constructed along the grass bank adjacent to the southern side of Chawton Park Road.

The application is supported by:
 Design and Access Statement
 Planning Statement
 Transport Statement
 Travel Plan
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal: 2017 Update
 Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan
 Lighting Assessment
 Sustainability Statement Update 2017

Supplementary information has been submitted to clarify the sports facility and sports pitch 
provision, provide additional drainage and travel plan information and include additional 
electric vehicle charging points and tree planting around the car park.

Relevant Planning History

21068/040 Outline application all matters reserved - Construction 
of replacement sports centre (Use Class D2) up to 
8,500 sqm gross external floor area together with 
parking structure and other car parking (up to 250 
spaces); Construction of outdoor floodlit, fenced 
synthetic turf pitches; vehicular, pedestrian and cycle 
routes; landscaping, including tree planting and 
sustainable urban drainage.  Earthworks, 
implementation of appropriate remediation works and 
felling of trees following demolition of the existing 
sports centre building; removal of the existing synthetic 
sports pitches, floodlighting and fencing.

Outline permission –
2 September 2015

21068/043 2.4m hoarding (part solid, part Heras fencing) and 
access gate around Phase 1 construction area at new 
Alton Leisure Centre to enable archaeology works (as 
required by pre-commencement conditions 7 and 8) to 
be undertaken. (Amended plans and supplementary 
information received 20 December 2017 and 4 January 
2018).

Temporary 
permission – 
5 January 2018



Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP16 - Protection and provision of social infrastructure
CP20 - Landscape
CP21 - Biodiversity
CP24 - Sustainable construction
CP25 - Flood Risk
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

HC3 - Public Services, Community, Cultural, Leisure and Sports Facilities
C6 - Tree Preservation

Alton Neighbourhood Plan (2016)

DE2 – Building Design and Town Character
TR3 – Cycle Storage and Parking
TR5 – Parking Provision and Standards
CH2 – Sports Centre

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

Core planning principles: Paragraph 17: Good amenity for all.
Section 7; Requiring good design.
Section 8; Promoting healthy communities.

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

EHDC Arboricultural Officer - No objection subject to all work being carried out in accordance 
with the submitted Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan which is part 5 
of the Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan dated 16 
September 2017.

EHDC Drainage Consultant – Confirms that the supplementary drainage information is 
satisfactory to clear the drainage conditions.



EHDC Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) – No comments received.

EHDC Environmental Health (Pollution) – Confirm that the submitted lighting assessment is 
acceptable.  Noise is covered by Condition 5 of the outline permission.

EHDC Landscape Officer – Recommends more tree planting around the car park to replace 
the existing car park trees proposed for removal.

EHDC Sports Development Officer – Comments awaited.

EHDC Refuse and Recycling – No comments to make as a trade waste facility.

EHDC Traffic Management Team - Has no adverse comments to make on this application.

Hampshire Fire and Rescue – No comments received.

Hampshire Constabulary Crime Prevention Design Advisor – No comments received.

HCC Archaeology – Details are currently being considered as part of the condition discharge 
on the outline permission.

HCC County Ecologist – Is content that ecological matters have been addressed sufficiently 
and that development should proceed in accordance with the recommendations within the 
submitted ecological appraisal.

HCC Drainage – Following the submission of supplementary information relating to infiltration 
testing, confirm that the surface water drainage meets current standards and best practice.

HCC Highway Authority – No objection, subject to impositions of conditions.

HCC Rights of Way – No objection, but request a financial contribution of £32,384 towards 
resurfacing and future maintenance of Chawton Footpath 1.  Restricted Byway 506 should be 
kept open throughout the construction period. Informatives are requested.

Scottish and Southern Electricity – No comments received.

South Downs National Park Authority – The SDNPA has reviewed the submitted landscaping 
and design details and has no comments to make in this instance.

South East Water – No comments received.

Southern Gas Networks – No comments received.

Sport England – Objects to the application pending receipt of information relating to:
 Loss of the climbing wall.
 Loss of squash court provision.



 Accommodation of adequate storage space for the gymnastics club.
 Clarification of the dimensions and internal clearance height of the sports hall.
 Phasing plans and delivery of the replacement grass pitches and their current usage.

Thames Water – No comments received. 

Alton Town Council – Objection with comments.
 Pedestrian Safety during the Phase Two demolition phase.
 Drainage in respect of the additional surface water run off generated and its impact on 

Cardiac Rehab.
 Lack of a construction method statement, leading to concerns in respect of vehicle 

parking on Chawton Park Road during the construction and demolition phases, lorries 
manoeuvring and vehicle routing.

 Light spill from the 3G pitch and its effect upon the neighbouring residential properties.
 Historic flood risk on Chawton Park Road which will only be exacerbated by this scheme 

and in particular the impact on Cardiac Rehab.
 Car Parking for Cardiac Rehab during the construction and demolition phases.
 Scale. The eastern edge of the Sports Centre building is inappropriate given its bulk and 

massing and proximity to Cardiac Rehab.
 Access to Cardiac Rehab following completion and the congested layout of the parking. ( 

A suggestion was put forward that dedicated parking to the north of rehab may be an 
alternative option)

 The accessibility for maintenance and service vehicles attending the sports centre and 
the impact up Cardiac Rehab parking.

 In respect of layout, more than two car charging points should be installed to meet future 
need.

 Scale "not big enough” to be future proof.
 Ultra-High Speed Broadband to be included.
 Concern over whether it is in compliance with the spirit of JCS CP1.
 Cycling provision insufficient (20)
 Concern over pedestrian footway being affected by construction traffic entering and 

leaving the site via the temporary vehicle access and the safety of those on foot.
 Concern over the enforceability of the proposed final layout for parking and impact of 

residential and commercial neighbours.
 Concern over the reduction of 3G pitches from 4 to 2 from the outline application to the 

reserved matters.

Alton Town Council also requests that EHDC need to be satisfied that policies CP17, CP18 
and NPPF 70 have been met.

Chawton Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish) - Object to this application.  The objections of 
the Sports Council in particular are noted and agreed.  The Parish Council, rather than re-
iterate those points, sets out in the attached paper the particular issues relating to Chawton 
and other users coming from the south and west.



It is a stated purpose for the new centre that encouragement of fitness is a key.  Access from 
Chawton other than in vehicles is fundamental to achieve maximum health benefits and 
mitigate pollution. The existing proposals fail to achieve that, and 2 particular aspects need to 
be addressed. This must dovetail with access to the countryside both in the National Park and 
those using Chawton Park Woods for exercise.

In the Planning Statement accompanying this application for approval of reserved matters @ 
2.2 the need "In addition to the provision of improved sports facilities, the proposed 
development will also provide enhanced site access and circulation routes for vehicles and 
pedestrians and an appropriate level of car parking to meet anticipated demand" is set out.  In 
this context Chawton Parish is materially affected by the issues this raises as there is a need 
within or at the boundary of Chawton Parish to enhance

a) access other than by vehicle particularly via Chawton Park Road and Northfields Lane
b) pedestrian and cycle access from the restricted byway Mounters Lane

Access other than by vehicle via Chawton Park Road and Northfields Lane
1 Chawton Park Road rapidly deteriorates to the south-west of the site access from a 

kerbed road with footways to a narrowed road with neither and with inadequate 
drainage. To accommodate increased traffic accessing the site the road needs at the 
least to be kerbed so width is not lost as it is at present by erosion and standing water. 
At the same time in this area the reduced regular highway drainage maintenance must 
be confronted. New works to secure practical drainage from this high banked highway 
must be installed.

2 The absence of a footway requires the assured continuance for public access of the 
cycle and footway running through the adjoining recreation ground, owned by Alton 
Town Council but largely in Chawton parish. This must legally be firmly agreed to be, or 
dedicated as, a public highway of bridleway status to accommodate those cycling to the 
new centre from both Chawton, Farringdon and Four Marks (which would not be 
permitted on footpaths).

3 In Northfields Lane no footway exists. There is sharp blind 90 degree turn from Chawton 
Park Road and an immediate rise to a brow in the road obscuring vehicles coming under 
Northfields Bridge. In consultations on the south Alton development the need for this to 
be addressed was acknowledged at the least by alternative way working under the 
bridge with a footway and cycle/ horse way created to link to the footway on the 
Chawton side of the bridge. The substandard footways link from Northfield Lane to and 
across the A31also needs resurfacing.

4 All these works need to be in place before the new centre is operational.

Pedestrian and cycle access from Mounters Lane
1.   Mounters Lane is a restricted byway linking from the north-east of Chawton village to the 

Sports Centre. With the new layout it is important that the existing substandard link from 
Mounters Lane is repaired and enhance. The existing steps are dangerous and 
decayed. The enhanced link for walkers' access and cycle access from Chawton village 
provides the most direct, sustainable, link to the site and to fail to carry out this work 
would fly in the face of the purpose of the centre and increased vehicular traffic.



2.   In particular children from Chawton Primary School use this route when visiting the 
Centre for swimming thereby combining a healthy walk with swimming. The alternative 
would be a mini bus which probably could not be afforded and would negate the aim of 
healthy exercise as well as damaging the environment.

3.   The Bowling Centre to the east of the new centre is also an important fitness facility and 
ease of non-vehicular access is important.  It is most directly approached from Chawton 
and the Winchester Road via the link from Mounters Lane, but no pedestrian/cycle link 
runs through the site to the Bowling Centre.  Till recently such a link was practical but 
where it ran past the Cardiac Rehabilitation Centre is now blocked. This needs to be re-
instated if the state purpose of the Sports Centre is to not to result in obstruction to other 
sports facilities.

Representations

The letters of representation which have been received from third parties object to the 
proposal on the following grounds as summarised below:

a) Adverse impact on the Cardiac Rehab unit due to; overshadowing, proximity, noise, 
and disruption from construction and access / parking arrangements.

b) Does not comply with Policy CH2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.
c) Does not meet para 74 of the NPPF.
d) Does not meet Policies CP17 and CP18 of the JCS.
e) Leisure centre is proposed not a sports centre which is currently oversubscribed.
f) The centre should provide an 8-lane swimming pool, a diving pool and a slide.
g) A sport climbing wall should be provided not a children’s “clip and climb”.
h) Loss of two squash courts.
i) Loss of artificial pitches from 4 to 2.
j) Not enough fitness class studios.
k) A spa facility is not required, the floorspace should be used for sports facilities.
l) No mention of a crèche facility.
m) No provision for Alton Hockey Club.
n) Space for martial arts clubs.
o) No mention of table tennis.
p) The gym is too large.
q) No enhancement to that provided by the existing sports hall to meet growing 

population of Alton.
r) Layout impractical as no direct access from spa to pool.
s) Impact on local business from incorporation of a spa.
t) Lack of car parking provision.
u) Design in uninspiring and limits further expansion.
v) Inefficient use of the footprint / reduction in floorspace
w) Lack of consultation with sports clubs.
x) No pedestrian access from Chawton Park Road.
y) Existing ground levels should be utilised and provide an underground car park.
z) Energy saving measures should incorporated into the design.
aa) Inadequate drainage.



bb) Disturbance during construction works.

1 letter has been received in support of the application on the grounds that;
i) The proposals will have no impact on the facilities to be re-provided.
ii) The design is an innovative and well-designed response to the setting and location.  
iii) The landscaping proposals would soften the visual impact of the proposal.
iv) The centre is a highly accessible and sustainable location.
v) Makes a positive contribution to the vitality of Alton as a leisure destination and would 

provide better leisure facilities.

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Matters relating to; layout, external appearance, scale and landscaping
3. Provision of sports and leisure facilities
4. Access and parking arrangements
5. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
6. Impact on trees
7. Drainage

Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

The Joint Core Strategy (JCS) identifies the majority of the application site as being within the 
Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) for Alton, only the car parking area to the north of Jubilee 
Playing Fields being outside this designation and this does not change as part of the 
proposal.

Policy CP2 (Spatial Strategy) directs new development growth and to make the best use of 
previously developed land and buildings within existing built up areas.  Policy CP16 
(Protection and Provision of Social Infrastructure) of the JCS seeks to prevent the loss of 
existing community facilities, whilst supporting proposals for new and improved facilities, 
public services, leisure and cultural uses that result in improvements to meeting the needs of 
the District. Such development should be in locations which are easily accessible to all 
sectors of the community. 

Policy CP17 (Protection of Open Space, Sport and Recreation and Built Facilities) only allows 
for development that results in the loss of a sport, recreation or play facility where it can be 
demonstrated that:

a) there is a surplus of provision according to the local open space and built facilities 
standards; or

b) alternative facilities of equal or better quality and quantity can be provided in an equally 
accessible location.



Members should note that since the grant of outline planning permission, the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan was “made” in May 2016, the policies of which carry full weight in the 
decision-making process.  Since the principle of development has been established through 
the grant of outline planning permission which is still extant, the application of the 
Neighbourhood Plan can only apply to the consideration of the reserved matters.  Policy CH2 
of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan states that: 

“Proposals for a replacement sports centre facility providing an enhanced level of 
recreational provision to Alton in terms of quality and quantity on or adjacent to the 
current site will be supported. 
Appropriate associated enabling development as part of the same scheme required to 
cross-subsidise the delivery of the new facility will be supported.
A comprehensive redevelopment of the existing sports centre site and the land adjacent 
will be supported provided that any new facility is in place prior to the old facility being 
redeveloped.”

The NPPF at para 70 advises that to deliver social, recreational and cultural facilities and 
services the community needs, decisions should plan positively for the provision of 
community facilities, including sports venues, to enhance the sustainability of communities 
and residential environments. Para 73 highlights the importance of access to opportunities for 
sport and recreation as making an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities.

Alton Sports Centre was opened in 1974 and due to its age and costly maintenance charges, 
a Built Sports Facility Study commissioned by the Council in 2008 concluded that the most 
viable long-term solution for the centre would be its replacement.  In December 2014, the 
Council’s Cabinet confirmed the replacement of this facility as a priority.  

The principle for the demolition of the sports centre and adjacent artificial sports pitch, and 
their replacement with new sports facilities, has been established through the grant of outline 
planning permission in September 2015.  Conditions 1 and 2 of this permission require the 
submission of an application for the approval of reserved matters within a three-year period, 
these matters relate to access, appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale of the 
development.  These issues will be considered below, along with other material planning 
considerations.



2. Matters relating to layout, external appearance, scale and landscaping

Layout

The outline planning permission established the principle of switching the positions of the 
sports centre building and outdoor artificial pitches, as well as revisions to the parking and 
landscaping at the site, in order to allow continuity in the provision of the main facilities.  
Phasing of these works is secured through Condition 3 of the outline permission.  The 
submitted plans confirm this scenario, with the sports centre to the eastern side of the site 
and the replacement 3G sports pitches and new car parking area to the west.  The car 
parking area to the south-west of the building / Gurdons access cutting would be reconfigured 
and extended. 

The site currently accommodates a sports centre providing a swimming pool, sports hall, 
studios and floodlit artificial turf sports pitches.  These would be replaced by a new sports 
centre incorporating a main swimming pool and associated learner’s pool, sports hall, 
exercise class studio, spin studio, fitness suite, squash courts and a spa area and holistic 
studio.  The outdoor sports facilities would provide two 3G football pitches including 
floodlighting.  Consideration of these sports facilities is considered within Section 3 below.

The building is shown on an “L” shaped footprint to the east of the existing centre, forming a 
courtyard style parking area with the Cardiac Rehab Centre.  The building would be set back 
from the Chawton Park Road frontage behind the existing grassed bank by around 11.5 
metres, which is slightly closer than the 13 metre set back of the current building although its 
height would be 6 metres lower than existing, therefore it is considered that this would be 
visually acceptable within the street scene. 

The main entrance to the building would be located centrally within the south-western 
elevation with access through a new area of car parking, to the north-east of the Gurdons 
access.  The pedestrian bridge across the cutting would remain to allow access from the 
extended car park area to the west.  The spa facility would have a separate entrance in the 
south-eastern elevation of the building, with direct access from the vehicle parking spaces to 
the south.  

Two 3G football pitches would be sited to the west of the sports centre building, with access 
from the new car park area to the north-west.  The pitches would be sited around 28 metres 
to the nearest property, with the 3G Sports Pitches a similar distance away.  The finished floor 
levels of the sports centre are shown to be around 0.5 metres lower than these dwellings, and 
the sports pitches around 0.9 metres lower and separated by a landscaped embankment.  

Overall the layout of the site is considered to be acceptable.



External Appearance

The elevational treatment of the building would be viewed as a series of blocks, rising up to 
the centre where internally the squash courts are located.  The south-western elevation 
contains the main entrance to the building, highlighted by a projecting canopy framing the first 
floor fitness suite.  The entrance to the spa to the south-eastern elevation would have glazed 
entrance doors to define this facility.  The north-western elevation to Chawton Park Road, 
would contain glazing elements wrapping around the corners of the building, to accentuate 
the entrance and swimming pool areas.  A prominent view westerly along Chawton Park 
Road would thus focus on the full windows around the pool.

Materials for the building are shown to be combination of horizontal Siberian larch timber 
cladding (natural finish), dark grey brick (Metnor) and mid grey composite cladding with a 
horizontal micro rib finish.  The roof would comprise be constructed of aluminium sheets with 
standing seams.  The windows, canopies and screens would be aluminium in a combination 
of dark grey and silver finishes. The details of the materials are considered to be acceptable, 
although details of proposed brick are unable to be found, thus would need to be secured 
through a condition.

Overall the external appearance and detailing of the building is of a good standard, with the 
use of smaller building blocks and differing material finishes to break up the massing of the 
building.

Scale

The building would have a combination of single and two storey elements, with an “L” shaped 
footprint having maximum dimensions of 68.8 x 78.5 metres.

The height of the building would range in height from 4.6 metres over the spa area / adjacent 
to the Cardiac Rehab centre at the north-eastern side of the building, to a maximum height of 
11.3 metres above the squash courts in the centre of the building, dropping down to 9.0 
metres at the south-western entrance. 

This compares with the existing building which has a rectangular footprint of approximately 
66.5 x 51.5 metres with a gently sloping pitched roof to a maximum ridge height of 15.6 
metres.

The massing of the building would be broken up through the use of set backs and different 
materials to add relief to the elevational treatment, assisted by the use of varying roof 
elements to create an arrangement of smaller blocks in built form. This is in contrast the 
existing building which has a uniform treatment resulting in a building which visually has a 
large massing.  The building would be lower in height than the current sports centre and 
would have significant less massing when viewed from public viewpoints in Chawton Park 
Road.  Overall the scale of the building is considered to be acceptable.



Landscaping

The application is supported by plans detailing the hard and soft landscaping for the site.  The 
plans show the provision of heavy standard tree planting (showing Norway Maple, Silver 
Birch, European Beech, Sweet Cherry, Northern Red Oak, Whitebeam and Small Leaved 
Lime), as well as beech hedging and shrub planting around the car parking areas and along 
grassed banks.  

Hard surfacing materials are shown as tarmac for the roads and some parking areas, with 
permeable tarmac for the new car parking areas to the west of the building.  Permeable and 
non-permeable concrete block paving, is shown for the pedestrian areas around the building.

The Council’s Landscape Officer recommends that more tree planting is provided around the 
car park to replace the existing car park trees proposed for removal (e.g. 2 extra trees on the 
meadow bank and 4 more between the existing and proposed car parks, south of Chawton 
Park Road).  Amended drawings (SLMA 01F and SLMA 03F) have been received which 
detail the provision of 4 additional trees (Lime and cherry) around the car parking area.  Since 
the meadow bank contains a water retention system, for technical reasons additional trees 
cannot be planted in this area.  As such the details of the hard and soft landscaping are 
considered to be acceptable.

For these reasons the detailed design matters for the development relating to layout, scale, 
external appearance and landscaping are considered to be acceptable, in accordance with 
Policy CP29 of the JCS and DE2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.

3. Provision of sports and leisure facilities

Policy CP16 of the JCS seeks to prevent the loss of existing community facilities, whilst 
supporting proposals for new and improved facilities, public services, leisure and cultural uses 
that result in improvements to meeting the needs of the District.  Policy CP17 allows for 
development that results in the loss of a sport, recreation or play facility where it can be 
demonstrated that alternative facilities of equal or better quality and quantity can be provided 
in an equally accessible location.  Policy CH2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan supports 
proposals for a replacement sports centre facility providing an enhanced level of recreational 
provision to Alton in terms of quality and quantity on or adjacent to the current site.

Sport England has been consulted and advised that its comments are made in its non-
statutory role as the application relates to the loss and replacement of a major sports facility.  
Sport England has assessed the application and requested that further information is 
provided in relation to:

 The loss of the existing climbing wall.
 Further evidence to support the loss of 2 squash courts.
 Adequate provision for storage of the gymnastics club.
 Clarification on the dimensions and internal clearance height of the sports hall.



 Lack of information on the construction, phasing, design and specification of the re-
provided sports pitch and temporary arrangements during construction.

Additional information has been provided by the applicant which seeks to address the above 
points.  At the time of writing a further response from Sport England had not been received.  
Any further comments will be report to Members at the meeting.

All the proposed uses within the building fall within a D2 “Assembly and Leisure” Use Class.  
Members should note that whilst the Local Planning Authority has control over the external 
scale and appearance of the building, as well as the outdoor spaces, it has very limited 
control over the internal arrangements within the facility itself, since following the completion 
of the building, the internal arrangements could be altered (within the same use class) without 
the need for planning permission.  For example, a squash court could be used as a fitness 
suite, or indeed soft play facility.  The control over the sports provision within the building, is 
largely a matter which rests with the Council in its role as the leisure provider, to oversee that 
the internal facilities within the centre meet local requirements.

In this regard the Local Planning Authority has a duty to have regard to the policies of the 
development plan, which largely distill into whether the replacement facility would be of equal 
or better quality and quantity scale of the facility, and provide an enhanced level of leisure 
provision.  

In terms of the quality of the replacement facility, the existing building is at the end of its life 
and provides a poor and dated facility for the town.  There can be no dispute that the proposal 
would result in an enhanced quality of leisure provision.  In terms of floorspace, the existing 
sports centre has a floorspace of 5343.3m2 and the proposed replacement facility a 
floorspace of 6221.3m2, therefore in terms of quantity too, the proposal would result in an 
enhanced level of provision. The main sports hall itself would be of internal dimensions to 
meet Sport England standards.

Therefore, the new centre is considered to meet the objectives of the planning policy in that it 
considered to be a fit for its proposed purpose.  Any matters with the internal layout of the 
building and its future by sports clubs would be a matter for the Council, in its role as Leisure 
Services Provider to consider and are not a matter for consideration by this Committee.

Turning to the artificial pitches, there is currently two pitches which would be replaced by two 
3G Artificial Grass Pitches.  Sports England advises that these should be designed to be in 
line with FA recommendations for design principles and layouts.  For mini soccer U7 and U8 
(5v5) matches, the FA advises that the pitches should be 37m x 27m, with 43m x 33m 
provided as a safety run-off area. 



The applicant has submitted amended plans which show an enlarged 3G pitch area to meet 
the dimensions advised by the FA.  These show a total pitch enclosure of 43m x 33m, with an 
FA 5v5 pitch at 37m x 27m, which in turn could be used as two 27m x 17m training pitches. 
The parking layout does not change as a result of the amended pitch layout.  These amended 
plans have been supplied to Sport England and the Council’s Sports Development Officer for 
comment.  Members should note that these amended plans would appear to address the 
concerns with the size of the pitches, and any responses received will be reported as an 
update to Members at the meeting.

The applicant has also advised that in the period to February 2020 when the pitches are 
temporarily unavailable, the existing users and clubs would be transferred to alternative 
facilities with spare pitch capacity in the local area (Mill Chase Leisure Centre, Lord’s 
Wandsworth College and Hart Leisure Centre).

For these reasons the development is considered to be in accordance with the aims of Policy 
CP17 of the Joint Core Strategy and Policy CH2 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.

4. Access and Parking Arrangements

The current vehicular access to the site is from the southern side of Chawton Park Road, via 
an access road to the north of Jubilee Playing Fields, which leads to an internal access road 
into a main car parking area to the south-east of the centre.  There is a further parking area to 
the south-east of the centre, also serving the Cardiac Rehabilitation Centre and Tennis Club.  
Exit from the site is via a one-way sunken road between the building and the car park, 
crossed by a pedestrian bridge linking these areas.  There is a footway along the southern 
side of Chawton Park Road, linking with Whitedown Lane and the Butts, then onwards 
towards to Alton Town Centre around 1.5 Km to the east of the site.

The main vehicular accesses to/from the site are not proposed to change as part of the 
proposals, thus would remain in their current location on Chawton Park Lane.  The changes 
to the layout are thus internal within the site, largely comprising extensions and alterations to 
the car parking and servicing arrangements for the centre.  The plans show that the hard-
standing area to the west of the centre would be altered and increased from 55 to 92 parking 
spaces, with an additional 140 spaces, including 12 disabled and 10 parent / child bays to the 
south-west of the centre.  As such the total number of parking spaces associated with the 
sports centre would increase from 146 to 232 spaces.  The number of bays assigned to the 
Tennis Club, Cardiac Rehabilitation Centre, Jubilee Playing Fields and the residential 
dwellings would remain unchanged.  The Alton Neighbourhood Plan does not include specific 
parking standards for non-residential development, with each development considered on a 
site by site basis.



The Town Council comment that more than two car charging points should be installed to 
meet future need.  Whilst the Council’s adopted parking standards do not contain any parking 
standards for electric vehicles, the draft ‘Vehicle Parking Standards’ Supplementary Planning 
Document which is currently out for consultation set out that a minimum of 2 spaces with 
charging points shall be provided where 25-100 car parking spaces are to be provided, with 2 
additional spaces and charging points for every 100 car parking spaces thereafter.  Amended 
plans have been supplied which show the provision of 4 electric vehicle parking / charging 
points close to the entrance and thus the proposal complies with the aims of this emerging 
document.

The Town Council has also raised concern about the enforceability of the proposed final 
layout for parking and potential impact of residential and commercial neighbours.  Whilst the 
Local Planning Authority can require the provision of allocated spaces and in accordance with 
the drawings, the subsequent enforcement of parking spaces would be a civil matter, outside 
planning control.

Hampshire County Council, as the Local Highway Authority, notes that the access would 
utilise the existing access onto Chawton Park Road, retaining the current one-way system 
which enables sufficient visibility at the separate access and egress points.  The Local 
Highway Authority highlight that there does not appear to be any signage for this on the 
submitted plans (ground or post), which should be rectified to ensure users are aware.  
Additional notes have been added to the Proposed Site Plan (A-PL-003) which identify 
highways signage at the entry and exit junctions. The Highway Authority has confirmed that 
there has also been the introduction of signage to signify to drivers on Chawton Park Road 
the one-way system within the site and which accesses can be used for access / egress. 
However, there does not appear to be any signage proposed within the site to signify which 
access to use and this should be amended.  It is suggested that details of the signage within 
the site could be secured through a condition.

In terms of parking, the Local Highway Authority comments that the development has 
proposed 232 parking spaces, for the sports centre, which the former HCC maximum parking 
standards for the proposals this would equate to 318 spaces.  The Local Highway Authority 
highlight that this is a shortfall compared to the maximum parking allowance that could be 
allocated, although note that it is an improvement (86 additional spaces) over the current 
provision. The East Hampshire Traffic Team has raised no objection to the proposals.  As 
such the Local Highway Authority advise that this arrangement is sufficient.  The Local 
Highway Authority advise that parking spaces that are on the end of rows should have an 
additional width of at least 0.3 metres to enable doors to be opened if they are against a wall 
or vegetation, this advice has been incorporated into the amended site plan.



HCC cycle parking standards show that the development would require 116 long and 63 short 
stay cycle parking spaces.  The Transport Statement advises that the centre currently has 10 
spaces, and that the Travel Plan indicates that only 23 two-way cycle movements would be 
generated each day.  The plans show the provision of 20 cycle spaces, which although 
significantly lower than the minimum standard, is an increase in 10 spaces above the existing 
provision.  The Local Highway Authority advise that there is the opportunity to review this 
provision and potentially provide more spaces through the travel plan monitoring as the 
demand may increase due to the new facilities.  The applicant has confirmed that this would 
be the case.

The submitted tracking drawings demonstrate that emergency vehicles including a Fire 
Engine and Ambulance can access the Cardiac Rehabilitation unit.  The Fire Engine would 
need to go through the new car park section in order to egress the site as there is the 
potential for conflict with oncoming vehicles if the vehicle uses the existing exit road adjacent 
to the bin store.

A new footpath link from Chawton Park Road has been included within the amended site 
plan, to enable ease of access to the main entrance for pedestrians arriving from the east.

The Local Highway Authority highlight that whilst a construction delivery area is shown, it 
would be single tracked such that there may be concerns in regard to two or more vehicles 
arriving at once. Contractor parking areas should also be identified accordingly. The applicant 
has clarified that vehicle deliveries would be programmed and managed to control vehicles on 
site at any one time. Contractor parking has been shown on phasing plans A-PL-025 to A-PL-
027 and Site Compound Plan A-PL-028. Access for deliveries will be from a temporary 
access on Chawton Park Road.

A Framework Travel Plan has been submitted to support the proposal, and following the 
submission of amendments, the Local Highway Authority has confirmed that the Travel Plan 
meets the minimum standards set out in their “Guide to Development Related Travel Plans.” 

The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that it has no objection to the development, and 
conditions relating to the provision of parking and the agreement of a Construction Method 
Statement are requested.  

Alton Restricted Byway 506 runs along Mounters Lane, to the south of the site, where it then 
turns into Chawton BOAT 502. These routes form part of the long-distance walking route, the 
Writer’s Way, which also links up with St Swithun’s Way on Winchester Lane.  Furthermore, 
Chawton Footpath 1 is located off Chawton Park Road, and forms part of a sustainable travel 
link to Alton Sports Centre from the nearby settlements of Beech and Bentworth.

The HCC Rights of Way Officer has no objection to this application, but requests that the 
applicant provides a financial contribution towards enhancing Chawton Footpath 1, which 
provides a pedestrian link from Beech and Bentworth to Alton Sports Centre. In the interest of 
supporting sustainable transport and public amenity, a contribution of £21,384 towards 
Chawton Footpath 1 is sought.  The enhancement would involve:



 Resurfacing and drainage works (324m): £19,440
 Future maintenance of this enhancement (10% over 10 years): £1,944

The footpaths above are all located outside the red line application site area.  Chawton 
Footpath 1 is situated around 450 metres to the south-west of the site.  Such a financial 
contribution should have been sought and secured as part of consideration of the outline 
planning permission.  In addition, it is considered that these works are not directly related to 
the development and are not considered to be linked to the approval of reserved matters. As 
such the contribution would not satisfy the requirements of paragraph 204 of the NPPF nor 
Regulation 121(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations, therefore it is not 
considered to be reasonable to seek a financial contribution in this regard.

The Rights of Way Officer, also requests that informatives are added to any permission 
granted relating to: Keeping Restricted Byway 506 open and free of obstruction throughout 
the construction period, with no surface alterations to the right of way which must remain 
available for public use at all times. 
For these reasons the outline proposal is considered to be in accordance with the aims of 
Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy.

5. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

The site is located within a mixed-use area, adjacent to both residential properties and other 
community and recreational uses.  

An objection has been received from the occupiers of the Cardiac Rehabilitation Unit, which is 
situated to the east of the site.  This objection is on the grounds of: impact to the operation of 
the unit and parking arrangements during the construction phases, potential impact from 
deliveries, proximity of the building with overbearing impacts, and potential for flooding.  The 
submitted plans show the provision of a courtyard style parking area between the Cardiac 
Rehabilitation Centre and proposed sports centre building.  There would be a distance of 
approximately 23.5 metres between the front of the Cardiac Unit and the sports centre, which 
would be single storey with a height of 4.1 metres fronting the building. This would increase in 
height to the squash courts (height 10.8 metres) set back a further 9.5 from the south-eastern 
elevation of the building.  A lower section of the building with a height of 4.3 metres would be 
sited with approximately 5.5 metres corner to corner between the buildings, which would be 
offset thus not having a significant adverse overbearing impact on windows serving the 
Cardiac unit.  The parking arrangement drawings confirm that there would be no change in 
the total parking provision for the Cardiac Rehabilitation Unit, with 22 standard and 3 disabled 
parking spaces existing and 21 standard and 4 disabled parking bays proposed.  A dedicated 
loading bay is shown to the south-east corner of the sport centre building to minimise any 
disturbance from deliveries to the centre on the parking area serving the Cardiac unit.

Alton Tennis Club is located to the south-east of the application site.  Access to the parking 
area for the Tennis Club is shown to be retained as existing.



A terrace of eight residential dwellings in Gurdons is located to the south of the site, which are 
currently approximately 36 metres from the Sports Centre building.  The submitted plans 
show that the footprint of the proposed building would be at its closest around 28 metres to 
the nearest property, with the 3G Sports Pitches a similar distance away.  The finished floor 
levels of the sports centre are shown to be around 0.5 metres lower than these dwellings, and 
the sports pitches around 0.9 metres lower and separated by a landscaped embankment.  
With these separation distances and the location of the development to the north of the 
dwellings, the proposal would not result in any significant overbearing or overshadowing 
impacts of these neighbouring properties.

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer (Pollution) has raised no objection to the proposal 
and advised that the development would not have significant impacts when compared to the 
existing use.  

Third parties have raised issues regarding the impact of construction on the Cardiac 
Rehabilitation Unit.  The conditions attached to the outline condition require a Construction 
Management Plan, which would be assessed in consultation with the Environmental Health 
Officer and the Local Highway Authority.

For these reasons the outline application is considered to be in accordance with the aims of 
policies CP27 and CP29 of the Joint Core Strategy.

6. Impact on Trees

The application site contains a number of mature trees, both within and around the perimeters 
of the site.  The application is supported by a Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
and Tree Protection Plan (Dr Martin Dobson: 16th September 2017) which identifies the trees 
to be retained as well as those which would be lost through development.  The report 
concludes that the development would require the removal of fifteen individual and five 
groups of trees, which are mainly located around the car parking area and on the bank to the 
south of the sports centre.  The trees to be removed are hazel, cherry and birch as well as 
two lime trees and a rowan close to the Cardiac centre.  The report also advises that the 
replacement planting with a minimum of 26 new trees should take place.

The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has raised no objection to the development, subject to 
conditions to secure that work is carried out in accordance with the submitted Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan.  As advised in Section 2 above, the Council’s 
Landscape Officer recommends that more tree planting is provided around the car park to 
replace the existing car park trees proposed for removal, and revised plans showing this have 
been supplied.

For these reasons the impact on trees, with the replacement tree planting, is considered to be 
acceptable.



7. Drainage

The outline application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which identifies 
the site as being located within Flood Zone 1, which is at lowest risk from flooding (less than a 
1 in 1,000 annual probability of flooding).  The FRA and drainage strategy propose a surface 
water disposal system comprising permeable paving and conventional soakaways 
discharging to the underlying chalk.  A drainage statement confirms that the system will be 
designed to cater for the 1:100 year + 40% climate change event, with discharge limited to 
existing greenfield rates.  The proposed development would result in an increase in the 
impermeable area on the site, due to the proposed increase in the car parking, synthetic pitch 
areas and building footprint.  Condition 11 of the outline permission requires the agreement of 
details for the disposal of foul and surface water from the development.

The Council’s Drainage Consultant has commented that the preliminary design of the surface 
water drainage system indicates that the proposals would provide more than adequate 
attenuation on site and not increase flood risk elsewhere.  A preliminary drainage layout plan 
(dated 25 July 2017) has also been submitted, and this has been supplemented by a 
Soakaway Calculations report.  In light of the submitted and supplementary reports, the 
Drainage Consultant has confirmed that the drainage details are satisfactory and also 
acceptable to discharge the drainage condition on the outline planning permission.

Hampshire County Council, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), has provided comments in 
relation to surface water drainage, and requested further information/clarification in relation to 
soil infiltration test results and calculations to BRE 365 for the 3 proposed soakaways and 
shallow tests for the 2 areas of permeable paving. These details have subsequently been 
provided by the applicant.  The LLFA has confirmed that the proposals for surface water 
drainage meet the current standards / best practice.

The Drainage Consultant also advises that foul drainage discharging to the public foul sewer 
appear to be satisfactory, subject to agreement with Thames Water.  Thames Water was 
consulted but has not commented on this application.  It is noted that foul water details would 
need to be considered through the discharge of Condition 11 of the outline consent.

For these reasons the proposal is in accordance with the aims of Policy CP25 of the JCS.

Other Issues

Contaminated Land 
Conditions relating to contaminated land form part of the outline planning permission 
(numbers 13 to 15).  

Sustainable Energy
Condition 16 of the outline planning permission requires the built development to incorporate 
energy saving measures of not less than 10% above current Building Regulations.



The application is supported by an updated Sustainability Statement which advises that 
measures to reduce energy demands will be considered in the design of the building.  A 
separate report detailing energy saving details (Designed BRUKL Report: 22/09/2017) which 
demonstrates the use of energy saving measures of more than 10% above Building 
Regulations requirements, as part of the discharge requirements of Condition 16.

Archaeology
The implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment, and where appropriate 
mitigation, is secured through conditions 7 to 9 of the outline planning permission.  The 
County Archaeologist has confirmed that such details are capable of consideration through 
the discharge of these conditions.

Ecology
The application is supported by an updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (AECOM, 
August 2017).  The County Ecologist has reviewed this Appraisal and the Lighting 
Assessment (AECOM, August 2017) and remains content that ecological matters have been 
addressed sufficiently.  As such it is recommended that the development should proceed in 
accordance with the recommendations within the submitted ecological appraisal, which can 
be secured through a condition.

External Lighting
The application is supported by a Lighting Assessment (AECOM: July 2017), which covers 
the proposed floodlighting for the sports pitch.  This assessment is the same as has been 
submitted for compliance with Condition 4 of the outline planning permission.  The Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that the details of the floodlighting contained 
within the assessment are acceptable.  It is noted that this Assessment does not cover other 
forms of external lighting, such as lighting on the building or within the car parks / footways, 
thus further details will be required before any such lighting is installed.

Construction Method Statement
Concerns have been raised about the impact on users of the facility and neighbouring 
buildings during the construction and demolition phases.  A condition is recommended to 
require the agreement of a Construction Method Statement, the details of which would subject 
to consideration by both the Council’s Environmental Health Officer and the Local Highway 
Authority.

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

Alton Town Council
The majority of the points raised by the Town Council have been covered in the relevant 
section of the report above.  There are a couple of points to pick up on.  In terms of scale, the 
Town Council have expressed concerns and about the bulk and massing of the eastern 
section of the building, then in another point state the scale of the building is not “big enough” 
to be future proof.  These points appear to be contradictory.



The provision of Ultra-High Speed Broadband is not a matter which can be secured through 
the planning system.  

The Town Council express concern over whether the development is in compliance with the 
spirit of JCS CP1, although this is statement is not qualified.  Policy CP1 is the strategic policy 
setting out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  This policy states that 
“planning application that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and where relevant with 
policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise”.  From the discussion in the report above, Officers advise 
that the development is in compliance with the policies of the development, thus is considered 
to be sustainable development in accordance with the aims of Policy CP1.

Chawton Parish Council, as a Neighbouring Parish, raises concerns about pedestrian and 
cycle access to the site via Chawton Park Road and Northfields Lane, due to the condition of 
the highway and lack of footways.  It is noted that the Local Highway Authority has raised no 
concerns in this regard and that these roads which currently serve the existing sports centre 
and are outside the application site area.  As a replacement facility, and in the absence of an 
objection from the Local Highway Authority, it would not meet the tests of a condition / 
planning obligation set out in the NPPF and CIL Regulations to require off-site improvements 
to the local highway network. 

Conclusion

The Joint Core Strategy identifies the majority of the application site as being within the 
Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) for Alton, only the car parking area to the north of Jubilee 
Playing Fields being outside this designation.  The principle of this development has 
previously been established with the grant of outline planning permission in September 2015, 
therefore it is the detailed matters relating to the siting, scale, external appearance, 
landscaping and access which are for consideration as part of this application.

Members will need to draw a distinction between the Council’s role as Local Planning 
Authority, and its separate function as a provider of leisure services.  Thus, in considering this 
application Members will need to consider the reserved matters which are up for 
consideration and whether these meet the policies of the Development Plan.  In considering 
the external appearance, scale, layout, landscaping and means of access, Officers advise 
that all these are considered to be acceptable.  Thus, Members should make a judgement as 
to whether the proposed facility is of equal or better quality and provides an enhanced level of 
recreational provision to Alton.  In this matter, it is quite clear that the existing building is at the 
end of its useful life, thus the new facility can only be an improvement in the quality of the 
facilities on offer.   The floorspace of the building is greater than that the existing sports 
centre, equating to an enhancement in terms of quantity.  Members should also take into 
consideration that the Local Planning Authority has very limited control of the future provision 
of facilities within the building.  In terms of external sports provision, amended plans have 
been submitted which enlarge the 3G pitch area to meet FA standards.



Therefore, taking all matters into consideration, Officers advise that the proposal is in full 
conformity with the provisions of the development plan.

RECOMMENDATION Subject to the receipt of satisfactory amended plans showing revised 
artificial sports pitches then reserved matters be APPROVED subject to the following 
conditions:   

1 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in the application 
or in the absence of such information, no development above slab level shall take place 
on site until samples / details including manufacturers details of all the materials to be 
used for external facing and roofing for the development hereby approved have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the approved 
development harmonise with the surroundings. 

 
2 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details and in accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall be carried 
out in the first planting season after practical completion or first occupation of the 
development, whichever is earlier, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, 
are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon 
as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size and number as originally 
approved unless a suitable alternative species are otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.
Reason - To ensure the provision and establishment of a reasonable standard of 
landscape in accordance with the approved designs. 

 
3 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought first brought into use until the 

areas shown on the approved plans for the parking of vehicles have been made 
available, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved details.  The 
parking areas shall then be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all 
times.
Reason - To make satisfactory provision for off street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 

 
4 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until details for the on-

site provision of bin and cycle storage facilities have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the 
bin and cycle storage has been constructed in accordance with the approved details 
and thereafter retained and kept available.
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities. 

 



5 The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until details of internal 
directional signage within the site has been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority.  The agreed signs shall be installed prior to the approved 
building being first brought into use.
Reason – To ensure appropriate signage is made within the site in the interests of 
highway safety. 

 
6 Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the details contained within the 

updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (AECOM, August 2017).
Reason – In the interests of ecology. 

 
7 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall 
include:

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and construction work; The 
provision of long term facilities for contractor parking;

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works;
 Methods and phasing of construction works;
 Access and egress for plant and machinery;
 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, and 

plant storage areas;
 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the development 

during construction period; and
 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance or demolition 

work.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the approved 
method statement.
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider the effect of 
the works on the amenity of the locality. 

 
8 No construction works on the 3G artificial grass pitches shall take place until full details 

and specifications for the design and construction of these pitches have been submitted 
to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall take 
place in accordance with details.
Reason - To ensure that the construction of the replacement artificial sports pitches is 
to an acceptable standard. 

 
9 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and particulars:

Application Form
Design and Access Statement (Hadfield Cawkwell Davidson: September 2017)
Planning Statement (AECOM:August 2017)
Transport Statement (AECOM: September 2017)
Lighting Assessment (AECOM: July 2017)



Sustainability Statement Update (AECOM: 13 October 2017)
Flood Risk Assessment (AECO: August 2017)
Soakaway Calculations (December 2017)
Tree Survey, Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan (Dobson: 16 
September 2017)
Travel Plan (AECOM: December 2017)
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report Update (AECOM: August 2017)
A-PL-001 - Site Location Plan 
A-PL-002 - Existing Site Plan
A-PL-003 Rev C - Proposed Site Plan 
A-PL-004 Rev A - Proposed Site Sections
A-PL-005 Rev A - Demolition and Tree Removal
A-PL-006 Rev C - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
A-PL-007 Rev A - Proposed First Floor Plan
A-PL-008 Rev C - Proposed Roof Plan 
A-PL-009 Rev A - Proposed Elevations 
A-PL-010 - Proposed Short Sections 
A-PL-011 - Proposed Long Sections
A-PL-012 - Existing Site Plan East 
A-PL-013 Rev C - Proposed Site Plan Part
A-PL-014 - Sports Hall Dimensions
A-PL-021 Rev C - Fire Tender Tracking Part
A-PL-022 Rev C - Delivery Vehicle and Ambulance Tracking 
A-PL-023 - Existing Site Plan - Part
A-PL-024 Rev C - Proposed Site Plan - Part
A-PL-025 - Existing Site Plan - Part
A-PL-026 - Existing Site Plan - Part
A-PL-027 - Existing Site Plan - Part
A-PL-028 - Existing Site Plan - Part
A-PL-030 - Materials Sample Board
A-PL-031 - External Works Sample Board
Tree Protection Plan (Sep 2017)
Tree Constraints Plan (28/6/2017) 
SLMA 03 Rev F - Planting Plan 
SLMA 01 Rev F - Landscape Masterplan
2386-10 - Proposed Drainage Layout
2386-DS01 - Surface Water Drainage Strategy

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development 
 
Informative Notes to Applicant:

1. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East Hampshire District 
Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and works with 
applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,



 updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 
their application and where possible suggesting solutions, and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Planning Charter.

In this instance:
 the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,
 additional information was supplied to address issues raised by statutory 

consultees.

2. A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  Permit enquiries 
should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 
02035779483 or by emailing wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application 
forms should be completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality.”

3. Restricted Byway 506 should be kept open and free of obstruction throughout the 
construction period.  Hampshire County Council (Rights of Way) has advised that if 
there is likely to be an effect on the right of way in terms of dust, noise or other 
obstruction during the period of the works, then it is advised that a Health and Safety 
Risk Assessment be carried out.  If there is deemed to be a risk to users of the right of 
way, the applicant should contact the County Council directly to discuss the Temporary 
Closure of the route for the duration of the works.

4. Hampshire County Council, as Highway Authority for Public Rights of Way, has advised 
that there must be no surface alterations to the right of way, nor any works carried out 
which affect its surface, without first seeking their permission.  You are advised that to 
carry out any such works without this permission would constitute an offence under 
S131 Highways Act 1980, and therefore you are encouraged to contact Hampshire 
County Council to discuss any works of this nature, including:

 Nothing connected with the development or its future use should have an 
adverse effect on the right of way, which must remain available for public use at 
all times.

 No builders or contractors vehicles, machinery, equipment, materials, scaffolding 
or anything associated with the works should be left on or near the footpath so 
as to obstruct, hinder or provide a hazard to walkers.

Any damage caused to the surface of the public right of way by construction traffic will 
be required to be restored to the satisfaction of the Rights of Way Officer, to not less 
than its minimum width, on the completion of the build.

5. If the proposals include works to an ordinary watercourse, under the Land Drainage Act 
1991, as amended by the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, prior consent from 
the Lead Local Flood Authority is required.  This consent is required as a separate 
permission to planning approval.



CASE OFFICER: Stephen Wiltshire 01730 234229
________________________________________________________________________



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Existing site plan



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed site plan



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed site sections



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed ground floor



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed first floor plan



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed elevations



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed short sections



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Sports Hall dimensions



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Existing site parking



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Proposed site parking



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Landscape masterplan



Section 1 Item 01 Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST

Planting plan







 Item No.: 02
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Retention of gypsy and traveller site for one pitch in addition to its 
lawful use as a timber yard with paddocks

LOCATION: Land to west of Highgate House, Lyeway Lane, Ropley, Alresford
REFERENCE 53523/009 PARISH: Ropley
APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Cole
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY:

16 August 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 23 August 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr C Louisson
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

The application is included on the agenda at the discretion of the Head of Planning Services.

Site and Development

The site is in countryside, approximately 400m east of the centre of Ropley on the northern 
side of Lyeway Road and adjacent to a detached property, 'Highgate House'. There is open 
countryside to the north and between the site and Ropley to the west, but on the southern 
side of Lyeway Road, there is a ribbon of detached properties, which forms part of the 
settlement policy boundary of Ropley. The site slopes gently down from the level of the road 
and comprises a hardstanding area approximately 100m north of the road. The site is 
enclosed by hedgerows on all sides but there are some views into the site through the 
entrance gate from Lyeway Road.

The application is partly retrospective as it proposes the retention of a touring caravan and 
the placing on the site of a static home, which would be located on the hardstanding area. 

Relevant Planning History

53523/002 Agricultural barn and change of use to timber storage area (part retrospective) - 
Refused 22/11/2011 - Allowed at appeal  



Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP10 - Spatial strategy for housing
CP15 - Gypsies, travellers & travelling showpeople
CP19 - Development in the countryside
CP20 - Landscape
CP25 - Flood Risk
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport
CP32 – Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

H14 - Other Housing Outside Settlement Policy Boundaries
H17 - Mobile Homes

The Ropley Neighbourhood Plan Pre-Submission (January 2018)

The Neighbourhood Plan commenced public consultation on 31 January 2018 on the Pre-
submission version and the consultation period expires on the 28 March 2018. The 
Neighbourhood Plan therefore carries some, albeit, limited weight in the determination of 
applications.

RNP1 – Settlement gaps
RNP2 – Settlement policy boundaries
RNP3 – Vistas and visual prominence
RNP4 – Trees, hedgerows, verges and banks

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

Core planning principles: Paragraph 17: Good amenity for all.

Section 4 – Promoting sustainable transport.
Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.



Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS)

Sets out national guidance for planning for traveller sites and determining applications.

Village Design Statement - Ropley Village Design Statement – non-statutory planning 
guidance that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration.

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

EHDC - Contaminated Land Officer - No objection.  Comments made with regard to the 
disposal of foul waste.

EHDC Landscape Officer - The site is enclosed by high hedges, but the caravan is open to 
view from the road through the gates. No objection subject to a condition to secure planting 
within the site to screen the view of the caravan.

HCC Highways Officer - No objection, subject to a condition relating to the provision of vehicle 
parking.

HCC Gypsy Liaison Officer - Mr and Mrs Cole confirmed that the planning application is for 
their own residential use and there are no plans for the site to be occupied by other persons. 
Mr Cole stated he has, and continues to travel away from home for economic purposes and 
would not be using the proposed residence purely as a base to return after a days work. Mr 
Cole's stated preference is to continue his traditional family and cultural lifestyle of living in a 
caravan and moving around for economic purposes.

Both Mr and Mrs Cole have gypsy ethnicity and a cultural tradition of living in caravans and 
both have a serious aversion to bricks and mortar accommodation. Mr Cole will continue to 
travel for economic purposes, but would like to remain settled on the site for reasons of family 
health and the education of their daughter. 

EHDC Planning Policy Team - National planning policy regarding gypsy/traveller 
accommodation is set out in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS, 2015). It requires 
council's to address traveller accommodation need and maintain a five year supply of 
deliverable land for traveller pitches.

The current position regarding traveller site need is based on the Hampshire Consortium 
Gypsy, Traveller Accommodation Assessment 2016-2036, (2017) (GTAA). It identifies that as 
at March 2017, there were 13 private sites with permanent planning permission for 22 pitches 
and no temporary pitches in the East Hampshire area. The GTAA identifies a need for 25 
pitches by 2036, with 19 to be provided in the period between 2017 - 2022. Since March 2017 
(the base date of the GTAA) no traveller pitches with planning permission have been 
completed and there remains, therefore, an outstanding need for at least 19 pitches between 
now and 2022. There is currently a 1.04 years supply for traveller pitches. The PPTS states 
that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of 



deliverable sites, this should be a significant material consideration in determining planning 
application.

Romany gypsies are recognised ethnic groups who have needs relevant to their ethnicity and 
culture and all the duties on public bodies under the Equalities Act 2010, Human Rights Act 
1998 and relevant case law apply.

It is known that there is a child living at the site and in addition to The Human Rights Act and 
Equalities Act, the European Convention on the Rights of the Child also applies. If the Council 
is minded to grant a permission with a personal condition, due consideration needs to be 
given to how this weighs in the planning balance. If minded to refuse the application, the 
Council should be fully aware that the rights of the child is a "paramount consideration" and 
any refusal would need to demonstrate and refer to how the decision has been considered in 
relation to acknowledging the rights of the child as a "paramount consideration."

Ropley Parish Council - Object.  This application site lies outside the settlement policy 
boundary for Ropley and therefore falls within the countryside. Policy CP19 of East 
Hampshire Joint Core Strategy makes clear that development within the countryside will only 
be allowed when there is a genuine and proven need for a countryside location. This 
application fails to demonstrate this need. 

With this in mind the application draws on the gypsy status of the applicants, and the lack of 
gypsy and traveller sites as justification for this development. The current Government 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) defines gypsies and travellers as:

'persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on 
grounds only of their own or their family's or dependants educational or health needs or old 
age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of 
travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such'. When PPTS refers to 
'persons of a nomadic habit of life' it means travelling for an economic purpose.
 
There is no significant evidence in this application that the applicant has been living a 
nomadic lifestyle. To the contrary, the applicant has settled in the local community for many 
years. In his previous planning application 52523/002 in August 2011 for an agricultural barn 
and timber store the applicant stated that he was an agricultural contractor and forestry 
worker. It added he had been operating from the site for nearly 9 years. This does not indicate 
someone living a nomadic lifestyle. Additionally, during the recent call for sites for gypsies and 
travellers by the local council, this site was not put forward as a potential site and was not 
thus a considered site under the county's LP3.

The application states that the site is well screened by mature hedging and trees and thus 
meets Criterion 'e' of planning policy CP15 however the white caravan on site is highly visible 
through the gate to the site. In addition, for criterion 'f' the agent reports that all essential 
services are on site however it is widely reported that the site has no mains water, electricity 
or identified means of foul drainage.



This is reinforced by CP26 of the JCS which requires developments to have an adequate 
means of water supply (even in a drought), sufficient foul and surface water drainage and 
adequate sewage treatment capacity. 

Finally, CP20 of the JCS sets out to protect and enhance the sense of place and tranquillity 
associated with a development. The applicant in this case is reported to work outside the 
hours conditioned in the application 52523/002 for the agricultural barn and timber store. This 
has led to a loss of amenity for the local residents. This application will have the potential to 
increase the use of the site outside the conditioned hours and a subsequent increase in the 
noise and disturbance created with a subsequent additional loss of enjoyment to the local 
residents of their homes and the countryside.

Representations

The 35 letters of objection raise the following concerns:

a) The site is outside the settlement policy boundary and residential development is contrary 
to policy;

b) The applicant is not a travelling gypsy and there is no evidence to support such a claim;
c) The proposed use of the land would have a harmful impact on the character of Lyeway 

Lane;
d) The applicant has been living a settled lifestyle in a house in Ropley for many years - 

since 2003, and does not live a nomadic lifestyle or travel for economic purposes;
e) The site is not suitable for residential use in proximity to the logging operation;
f) The non-native hedge and high gates are not in keeping with the area;
g) The site was not put forward during the recent call for gypsy and traveller sites;
h) The letters of support are character references and do not evidence a travelling lifestyle; 

they are also from local residents suggesting his business activities are local;
i) There is provision for such sites elsewhere;
j) There are no services on the site for water, electricity or sewerage;
k) The applicant has previously stated he operates as an agricultural and forestry contractor 

from site and that therefore his operations are not footloose; and
l) Intentional, unauthorised development is a material consideration.

The 11 letters of support comment that:

a) The applicant has traditional Romany heritage/family; and
b) The applicant and his family stay in Somerset for 4-6 weeks a year when working in that 

area.

7 further letters of objection including 5 second letters have been received reiterating the
concerns listed above. 



Determining Issues

1. Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and the principle of the development
2. Visual impact and impact on the character and appearance of the area
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
4. Highway implications

Planning Considerations 

1. Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and the principle of the development

The application proposes the siting of a static home in addition to a touring caravan. Personal 
circumstances of the applicant have been set out in the application, and this will be discussed 
below. The site was granted planning permission at appeal for use as a timber yard/storage 
area for the applicant's business, but it should be noted a hedge separates the timber yard 
area from where it is proposed to site the accommodation pitch. 

The following sets out the planning policy context for gypsy/traveller accommodation. 

National advice

National planning policy is set out in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites, 2015 (PPTS) and 
is a material consideration. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that its 
content should be read in conjunction with the PPTS. Policy H of the PPTS, in turn, requires 
applications for gypsy sites to be assessed in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development set out in the Framework, and with regard to the application of 
specific policies in both the Framework and the PPTS. 

The Government's overarching aim in the PPTS "...is to ensure fair and equal treatment for 
travellers, in a way that facilitates the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while 
respecting the interests of the settled community." 
To achieve this aim, local planning authorities should make their own assessment of need for 
such sites within their area for the purposes of planning and "...should set pitch targets for 
gypsies and travellers and plot targets for travelling show people which address the likely 
permanent and transit site accommodation needs of travellers in their area, working 
collaboratively with neighbouring local planning authorities." 

It requires Councils to address the need for traveller accommodation and to maintain a five 
year supply of deliverable land for traveller pitches. Policy H of the PPTS sets out the criteria 
relevant to determining applications for traveller sites and states sites away from existing 
settlements should be strictly limited and that sites in rural areas should respect the scale of, 
and do not dominate, the nearest settled community. 



Consideration should thus be given as to the whether the site is in open countryside and 
away from a settlement; its relationship to the nearest settled community and whether it would 
place undue pressure on local infrastructure. When determining planning applications for 
traveller sites, the PPTS states the following issues should be considered:

a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites;
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants;
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant;
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form 

the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess 
applications that may come forward on unallocated sites;

e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those 
with local connections.

Policy H of the PPTS goes on to state weight should be attached to the following matters:

a) whether the proposal makes effective use of previously developed, untidy or derelict land;
b) sites being well planned or landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance the 

environment;
c) ensure adequate landscaping and play space; and
d) not enclose a site with so much hard landscaping that the impression may be given that 

the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the rest of the community.

The Development Plan

Planning law requires applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF and 
the PPTS are material considerations.

Policy CP19 of the East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy (JCS) operates a policy of 
general restraint on development outside settlement policy boundaries, unless there is a 
genuine and proven need for a countryside location. Gypsy and traveller sites are normally 
located within countryside locations and, therefore, can be considered to be an exception to 
the general restraint imposed by the policy on new development in the countryside. 

Policy CP15 states planning permission for permanent and transit sites for gypsies, travellers 
and travelling show people will be granted if the site accords with a number of criteria. An 
assessment of the proposal against each of the criteria set out in policy CP15 is set out below 
and all other relevant policy considerations are addressed in the following sections.

The Ropley Neighbourhood Plan Pre-submission version has commenced public 
consultation, which runs until the 28 March 2018 before progressing towards Examination. 
Due to the stage of preparation of the Plan, its policies carry limited weight in determining 
applications and it does not in any event have a specific policy relating to gypsy/traveler 
accommodation. Other policies relating to Settlement Gaps and Boundaries and Key Vistas 
are discussed later in the report.



Traveller site need and five-year land supply position
 
The Council's current assessment of need is based on the Gypsy Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) 2017. The GTAA identifies a need for 25 traveller pitches in the period to 
2036 and within the period 2017-2022, the need is for 19 pitches. Since March 2017 no 
outstanding Traveller pitches with planning permission have been completed and so there is 
an outstanding need for 19 pitches. There is currently planning permission for 4 pitches, but 
these have not yet been built. The current land supply position is that there is 1.04 years 
supply for traveller pitches and this should be afforded significant weight in assessing the 
application. In an appeal decision (APP/M1710/15/3141363 relating to application ref: 
52747/008, Hill Top Stables, Liphook) the Inspector concluded that there remains a significant 
immediate need and the five-year shortfall in traveller pitch supply, which is unlikely to be met 
for some years to come, weighed in favour of that application. The need remains the same at 
the time of writing this report. 

Assessment of the suitability of the site

The application proposes a single pitch on land immediately adjoining a timber yard owned by 
the applicant. As identified above, the GTAA identifies a need for 19 pitches in the period 
2017-2022 and that there is a significant shortfall in the Council's land supply position for 
traveller sites. Notwithstanding the land supply position, the site is small and relates well to 
the applicants’ timber yard and benefits from established hedgerow screening. 

The PPTS states, "Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site 
development in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas 
allocated in the development plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural 
areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid 
placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure." The site falls within the countryside, 
but it is within close proximity to the settlement of Ropley. Such proposals are often located 
outside of settlement policy boundaries, but in this instance, the location is close to the 
settlement and is not in an isolated rural location "away" from a settlement. The Inspector, 
when granting planning permission for the permanent use of a traveller site close to the 
settlement policy boundary of Liphook stated, "Policy CP15 refers to convenience of services 
rather than remoteness and, whilst the site lacks contiguity with other residential 
development, I find that the appeal site is well placed to benefit from its proximity to Liphook 
and would thereby be relatively convenient to community facilities."  These comments are 
considered to be applicable to this application, though it should be noted that Ropley has 
considerably less services than Liphook (Ropley is ranked as a Level 4 settlement in the 
hierarchy of settlements set out in policy CP2 of the JCS (such settlements are defined as 
having a limited range of services and may be appropriate for some small-scale, local 
development)). There is a primary school and a shop, whilst public transport links are further 
away at Ropley Dean. It is considered the site is suitably located to benefit from the services 
in Ropley.



Consideration of the application against Policy CP15 - Gypsies, travellers and travelling show 
people 

Policy CP15 of the JCS, which stipulates:

Planning permission for permanent and transit sites for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Show people will be granted if the site:

a) meets a need as identified by the local planning authority's accommodation assessment;

The proposal would go towards a recognised need identified in the local planning authority's 
accommodation assessment for gypsies and travellers (GTAA), i.e. 22 pitches up until 2028. 

b) is located conveniently for access to schools, medical services and other community 
facilities;

The site is well placed to benefit from its proximity to Ropley and would therefore be relatively 
convenient to community facilities.

c) has adequate provision for access, parking, turning and servicing;

The County Highway Authority has been consulted and raised no objection, commenting that 
the proposal would not have an impact on the local highway network and that the existing site 
access onto Lyeway Lane is to be retained.

d) is capable of accommodating the number of caravans/mobile homes proposed;

The land would be capable of accommodating the proposed single pitch and would not 
amount to the over development of the land.

e) can be adequately screened or landscaped to blend the site into its surroundings; 

The site benefits from screening by hedgerows to all sides, which screens the site in the 
landscape. The site is visible from the entrance gates with Lyeway Road, but it is not 
considered that there is any significant visual harm to the character and appearance of the 
area. See further appraisal of the landscape impacts below. 

f) is capable of being provided with essential services and does not put undue pressure on 
local infrastructure and services;

The provision of one further gypsy pitch on the land should not put undue pressure on local 
infrastructure and services. The applicant has clarified that water is collected from a churn, 
but that a water supply is due to be connected for the site; the site has electric supply whilst 
sewerage is collected from the portaloo once a week, but that the already installed septic tank 
would be used once a water supply connection is made. 



and

g) in addition, for transit sites, it is accessible to the main transport routes through the District.

The proposal is not for a transit site and so (g) is not applicable.

The proposal is considered to be in accordance with criteria a-g of policy CP15. 

Summary of whether the site is suitable for permanent use as a traveller site

From all of the considerations thus far, it is considered that the site is suitable and acceptable 
as a permanent traveller site and that the grant of planning permission for a single pitch, 
which is available and deliverable now, would make a contribution towards meeting the need 
identified in the GTAA and accords with the Development Plan. The PPTS advises that 
consideration should be given to the availability (or lack of) alternative sites and other 
personal circumstances of the applicant. It is though considered that, in view of the 
acceptability of the site, a general permission for gypsy use of the site is appropriate and that 
it is not necessary or justified to condition any permission to the applicant. Conditions are 
proposed however to restrict the occupation of the site to one family, to a single pitch and to 
persons who fit with the definition of a traveller as set out in Annex 1 of the PPTS. The 
following assessment is set out for completeness and in the event it is considered by 
Members that a personal permission is appropriate. In this scenario, it would also be relevant 
to consider the legal implications of this as the applicant has already occupied the site. 

Availability (or lack of) alternative accommodation

The application sets out that they have a local connection due to the applicant's father age 
and health, through their daughter attending the local primary school and the applicant's 
business. Alternative accommodation is therefore considered to be restricted to the local 
area. No other sites are known to be available to the applicant. The applicants have been 
living in a house in Ropley for some years with the father and it is understood they have 
recently returned there from the caravan during the cold period. A number of objectors have 
suggested that this house is suitable alternative accommodation, however, the applicants 
have stated an aversion to bricks and mortar accommodation and whilst they may have been 
living in permanent accommodation, there is a clear need to identify culturally suitable 
accommodation in the form of caravans. 

Definition of travellers as set out in the PPTS

The Government's revised definition of travellers in set out in the 2015 PPTS as follows:

"Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on 
grounds only of their own or their family's or dependents educational or health needs or old 
age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of 
travelling show people or circus people travelling together as such.



In determining whether persons are “gypsies and travellers” for the purposes of this planning 
policy [PPTS], consideration should be given to the following issues amongst other relevant 
matters:

a) whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life;
b) the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life; and
c) whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the future, and if so, how 

soon and in what circumstances."

Whether the applicants accord with the definition of travellers

Information submitted in support of the application include letters from various persons stating 
that the applicant (Mr Cole) travels. This, however, is contradicted by a number of the 
objections received, which state the applicant does not travel. The County Gypsy Liaison 
Officer visited the site and met the applicants and advised the Council on the matter. He 
advised that he recognised Mrs Cole as a former resident of a Gypsy and Traveller site in 
Marchwood, Hampshire and discussed Mr Cole's family lifestyle and history and was advised 
he has travelled for most of his life, although he has also been in bricks and mortar 
accommodation for periods throughout his life.

The applicants have been living in Mr Cole's fathers' house in Ropley for several years, but it 
is asserted that they have an aversion to bricks and mortar accommodation and wish to 
continue their traditional family and cultural lifestyles of living in a caravan. There is also a 
desire by the applicants to settle, largely to enable them to provide a base from which their 
daughter could receive a settled education at the local school and also to provide a 
convenient base from which to care for Mr Cole's father. 

The Gypsy Liaison Officer provides confirmation that the applicants are of Romany gypsy 
ethnicity as recognised by the Race Relations Act. It is also acknowledged that there are 
reasons for ceasing their nomadic lifestyle to provide a base for their daughter's educational 
needs and for care reasons of a relative. It is, however, also important to consider criteria (c) 
in respect of whether there is an intention of living a nomadic lifestyle in the future. In this 
regard Mr Cole has advised that whilst seeking a permanent base at the site, he would 
continue to travel for economic purposes, primarily in the summer doing tree surgery and 
various associated work. The applicant was asked to provide some evidence to support this 
and submitted three further letters asserting that the applicant travels and a 'Notice to Quit' 
notice issued by Somerset County Council. The applicants have stated that they have an 
intention to travel during school breaks to continue their cultural lifestyle.  



A number of letters of representation state the applicant does not travel, however, there is no 
clear evidence to support this. It is noted that the applicant has sought to develop a business 
at the site, which implies an intention to be based at Ropley. However, whilst noting the letters 
of support do not provide clear and unequivocal evidence of travelling, it is considered that 
there is an intention to travel and maintain their traditional lifestyle. The Gypsy Liaison Officer 
comments that, "I have no reason to doubt that Mr Cole will continue to travel for economic 
purposes and will on occasions be joined by his family." The applicants are clear that they 
want a permanent base for family reasons (education for their daughter and health care for 
their father), however, this would not preclude opportunities to travel, whether for work, 
visiting friends/relatives horse fairs or simply to maintain a nomadic lifestyle.

Whilst noting all representations received in respect of the applicants, it is considered they 
meet with the definition set out in the PPTS and would qualify for occupation of the site in the 
event a general permission is granted or in the event a personal condition was considered 
appropriate.  

Intentional unauthorised development

In accordance with a Written Ministerial Statement (August 2015), the concept of intentional 
unauthorised development is a material consideration. There is no dispute that the applicants 
seek use of the site so as to provide family accommodation that has a degree of 
independence from their previous accommodation at Mr Cole's father's house in Ropley. 
Whilst also providing a close local connection for the educational needs of their daughter, to 
care for their father and also for the health of Mrs Cole (as supported by their doctor). 
Nonetheless, it is considered intentional unauthorised development did occur (having been 
advised by Officers of the Council against occupation of the site) and this weighs against the 
proposal, however, in the absence of policy or guidance on the matter, the weight against the 
proposal is considered to be minimal.

Human Rights Act 1998, Equalities Act 2010 and European Convention on the Rights of the 
Child

Romany gypsies are a recognised ethnic group who have needs relevant to their ethnicity and 
culture and all duties on public bodies under the Equalities Act 2010, Human Rights Act 1998 
and the Best Interests of the Child and Equality Act 2010 are applicable. Again, these matters 
are not considered to be determinative due to the conclusion reached on the key issue of the 
suitability of the site as a traveller pitch, however, it is considered appropriate to record the 
implications that may arise and they must be considered in the balancing process in the event 
Members seek to apply a personal condition or refuse the application. It is known that the 
applicants have a child and if Members are minded to refuse the application, the rights of the 
child is a "paramount consideration" and it would need to record in the reason for refusal how 
the application has been considered in relation to acknowledging the rights of the child. 



Equalities Act 2010

The Equalities Act 2010 requires Council's to take steps to meet the needs of people who 
have relevant protected characteristics, such as ethnic gypsies, including those gypsies who 
require culturally suitable accommodation. Section 149 of the Act requires public authorities, 
in the exercise of its functions, to have to regard to the need to:
a) eliminate discrimination;
b) advance equality of opportunity between those who have relevant protected characteristic 

and those who do not; and
c) foster good relations between those who have a relevant protected characteristic and those 

who do not

Having established that the applicants have a relevant protected characteristic, regard must 
be given to the applicants' circumstances and the duties placed upon the LPA to have regard 
to the Equalities Act. Consideration should also be given to Section 158 of the Act as it 
applies if a person reasonably thinks that, as a person who has a protected characteristic, 
they suffer a disadvantage connected to the characteristic. As stated above, the applicants 
have Romany gypsy ethnicity and require culturally suitable accommodation and this 
application would secure that. The policies of the Development Plan may dictate that there 
are overriding reasons why planning permission should not be given. However, the site is not 
designated as a National Park, Green Belt, SSSI, AONB or site protected under the Birds and 
Habitats Directive and in the absence of overriding landscape harm or other policy 
consideration (for example flood risk), it is considered there are no imperative reasons why 
permission should be withheld. The proposal would not unreasonably impact upon the settled 
community. A refusal reason would need to evidence that the applicants are not being 
unreasonably treated because of their protected characteristic. 

Human Rights Act 1998 and the Best Interest of the Child

The applicants have a daughter who has recently started attending the local primary school, 
having previously attended the local pre-school. It is understood she lives with the applicants 
at the site.

Full regard has been given by the local planning authority to the occupiers’ human rights and 
the best interests of the applicant's child, which is a primary consideration. However, these 
factors have to be balanced against the fundamental planning objections to the residential 
use of the land.  Some concerns have been received in respect of the proximity of the site to 
the wood yard (the applicant's business) and whilst there may be some understandable 
concern for safety implications around this, it is not considered that there are over riding 
safety concerns; such a relationship is considered comparable to a farmhouse and farm 
buildings, which is not uncommon and a precautionary approach to the situation can readily 
be taken within the family.  

There is a requirement for the Council to consider the needs of the applicants to find culturally 
suitable accommodation and with regard to Article 8 of the European Convention on Human 
Rights, there is a 'Right to respect for private and family life.' It states:



1. Everyone has a right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 
correspondence.

2. There shall be no interference by a public authority...except such as in accordance with the 
law and is necessary in a democratic society.... or for the rights and freedoms of others. 

The applicants have stated that the use has already started and that they occupy the caravan, 
but it has also been stated they continue on occasion to reside at their fathers house or in 
caravan in the driveway of that property, but for the purposes of the application of the Human 
Rights Act, the needs of the applicants are assessed on the basis that they occupy the site.

It should be recognised that if the proposal is refused, it would potentially contribute towards 
the family's compulsory vacation of the site, thus interfering with their right to a home and 
family life. The lack of suitable, available alternative accommodation makes such an 
interference more serious. Whilst there is, arguably, alternative accommodation in the form of 
their father's house in Ropley, however, it is not considered to be culturally suitable 
accommodation noting their aversion to bricks and mortar accommodation. There was also a 
letter from the applicants' Doctor stating that Mrs Cole's health is better served away from the 
father's house in Ropley. 

2. Visual impact and impact on the character and appearance of the area

Policy CP20 of the JCS states development proposals must conserve and enhance the 
District's natural environment, protect local distinctiveness and apply the principles set out in 
the Landscape Character Assessment.

The site is located on the northern side of Lyeway Lane, adjacent to Highgate House, the only 
other development on the northern side of the Lyeway Lane in the area. On the southern side 
of the road, there is a ribbon of detached housing that extends from Ropley to approximately 
50m west of the site. The surrounding area comprises open fields with an undulating 
topography with land rising further to the east. The site is enclosed by hedgerows on all sides 
but is visible from Lyeway Road through the entrance gates. 

The boundary hedging provides mature, established screening such that the site is effectively 
screened. The Landscape Officer comments that additional planting should be made within 
the site, close to the entrance to help screen the site from the road and a condition in this 
regard is recommended and a further condition ensuring the retention of the existing 
boundary vegetation is also proposed. There would be some conflict with policy CP19 in as 
much as policy CP19 seeks to 'protect the countryside for its own sake', however, in the 
absence of any overriding harm to the character and appearance of the area, it is considered 
the proposal accords with policy CP20. Furthermore, having regard to the criteria set out in 
the PPTS, the site is well landscaped, is of a modest scale and the proposal does not 
incorporate hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that can isolate the site from the rest of 
the community.  



Policy RNP1 of the Ropley Neighbourhood Plan identifies areas of land to be designated as 
Settlement Gaps and the application site falls within one of these Gaps. The policy states 
development within these Settlement Gaps will not be permitted unless it meets the following 
criteria:
a) it would not undermine the physical and/or visual separation of settlements; and
b) it would not compromise the integrity of the gap, either individually or cumulatively with 
other development; and
c) there is a genuine and proven need for it to be located in a Settlement Gap and it cannot 
be located elsewhere. 

The preamble to the policy sets out that Ropley comprises disparate areas of development 
and that the Settlement Gaps are intended to retain the openness and rural nature of the 
gaps but recognises that some development may be necessary within the Gaps subject to the 
criteria listed above.  The Settlement Gaps policy should be read in conjunction with policy 
RNP3 of the Neighbourhood Plan, which establishes settlement policy boundaries and the 
site is not within one of these settlement policy boundaries. As mentioned above, the site is 
not within the settlement policy boundary defined by the East Hampshire Local Plan. 

The Settlement Gap covers all of the land in the applicants control including both the 
established timber yard area, the paddock to the road front and the area where the access is 
proposed. Noting the permitted use of the timber yard and the hedging that encloses the 
applicant's land, it is considered the proposal would not undermine the physical or visual 
separation of settlements and would not compromise the integrity of the gap and would thus 
accord with criteria (a) and (b) of the policy. As mentioned above, gypsy accommodation is 
generally held to be an acceptable exception to policies that seek to control development in 
the countryside and the site is considered appropriate in terms of its landscape impact and its 
relationship to the settlement. Whilst there would be some limited conflict with the objective of 
the policy, such conflict is considered carry minimal weight against the proposal in view of 
limited weight that can be attributed to the Neighbourhood Plan at this stage. Any conflict 
should also be seen in the context of an absence of a five-year supply for gypsy/traveller sites 
and the compliance of the proposal against the policies of the Development Plan as a whole.

Policy RNP3 of the Ropley Neighbourhood Plan identifies ‘Key Vista’s and ‘Areas of 
Significant Visual Prominence’ which it refers to as viewing points from where views are key 
to the landscape character of the area. The site is not within an area of Significant Visual 
Prominence but is visible in a Key Vista (labelled (E) on the accompanying map).  The policy 
states development will not be allowed within Key Vistas unless it can be shown that it would 
have no adverse impact on the visual appearance or character of the landscape. As above, it 
is considered the proposal would not be visually intrusive in the landscape and that includes 
views from Key Vista (E). A condition is proposed to ensure the retention of the hedge, 
ensuring the protection of the view. The proposal retains the hedgerow (which is reinforced by 
the proposed condition) and as such, the proposal would be consistent with policy RNP4 of 
the Ropley Neighbourhood Plan. 



In view of the scale of the proposal and the extent of the screening of the site, it is considered 
the proposal would not have an unacceptable harmful impact on the character and 
appearance of the local landscape and the proposal is considered to accord with policy CP20 
of the JCS. 

3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that development does not have an unacceptable impact on 
the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or excessive 
overshadowing. 

A high hedge forms the boundary of the site with the neighbouring property, Highgate House 
and the proposed residential use of the site would not cause any overshadowing or loss of 
privacy. Concerns have been received from the neighbour in respect of odour and noise 
issues and these have been forwarded to the Environmental Health team, however, in land-
use terms, having regard to the scale of development and the boundary vegetation, it is 
considered the proposal would not result in unacceptable loss of amenity and that the 
proposal accords with policy CP27 of the JCS. 

Conditions set by the Inspector is relation to the use of the timber yard continue to apply and 
this includes a condition restricting hours of operation.

4. Highway implications

The application would utilise the existing access with Lyeway Lane that serves the timber 
yard. The Highways Officer comments that the access is acceptable and that the additional 
level of traffic would not have a severe detrimental impact on the safety or operation of the 
local highway network. Whilst noting concerns received in the representations in respect of 
additional traffic, and noting that the site is located in a rural area, that would likely dictate a 
reliance on private transport, in view of the scale of the proposal, and its relative position to 
services and facilities in the settlement policy boundary, it is considered the scheme accords 
with policy CP31 of the JCS. 

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

The comments made by the Parish Council are addressed in the above report. 

Conclusion

The application must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance it is considered that a location 
outside of an established settlement policy boundary is justified and that the site is suitably 
located to Ropley. Critically, the application is considered to accord with all of the criteria set 
out in policy CP15 of the JCS and the proposal would not result in harm to the local highway 
network, amenity of adjoining development and it would not result in unacceptable harm to 
the character and appearance of the area. 



The Planning Policy for Traveller Sites is a material consideration, which is a material 
consideration. It requires that local planning authorities identify needs for traveller 
accommodation and that it maintains a five year supply of deliverable sites. The Gypsy 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2017) identifies a need for 19 pitches in the period 
2017-2022 and currently there is a 1.04 year supply of sites. The shortfall in supply and the 
contribution the scheme would make towards meeting the identified should be afforded 
significant weight. In light of the policy compliant scheme, it is considered the application is 
acceptable for a permanent pitch and that a personal condition is not justified as it would not 
meet with the tests for use of conditions.  

Nevertheless, due regard has been made to the applicant's personal circumstances and it has 
been confirmed by the County Gypsy Liaison Officer that they have Romany gypsy ethnicity 
and require culturally suitable accommodation. There is not considered to be alternative 
accommodation available, including that of remaining at their father's house in Ropley as they 
have an aversion to bricks and mortar accommodation. The fact that they have lived in bricks 
and mortar accommodation does not make it a suitable alternative. The applicants are 
considered to accord with the definition of travellers with have an intent to travel in the future 
even if currently the applicants are primarily based at Ropley in order to provide education for 
their daughter, care of a relative and for work purposes. 

Matters relating to personal circumstances do not weigh in the planning balance exercise and 
are referred to here simply so that decision makers are aware of their circumstances and the 
legal implications associated with them. However, careful consideration must be given to the 
Equalities Act (2010), the rights of the child and the Human Rights Act (1998) in the event 
Members are minded to refuse the application. 

RECOMMENDATION PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990

2 The site shall not be occupied by any persons other than gypsies and 
travellers as defined in Annex 1: Glossary, paragraph 1 of Planning Policy 
for Traveller Sites, August 2015, or any documents that supersedes or 
revises this definition.
Reason - The site lies in a locality where permission would not normally 
be granted for residential development.

3 The site shall only be occupied by one gypsy/traveller family, and their 
resident dependants.  
Reason - To control the level of occupancy and development on the land 
in the interests of proper planning.



4 The residential use hereby permitted shall be restricted to the stationing 
of one static caravan or mobile home and one mobile caravan, as defined 
in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and the 
Caravan Sites Act 1968. 
Reason - To control the level of residential use on the land and in the 
interests of the character and appearance of the area.

5 Within three months of the date of this decision, a detailed landscape and 
planting scheme for the site, specifically by the entrance, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and in 
accordance with the recommendations of the appropriate British 
Standards or other recognised codes of good practice.  These works shall 
be carried out in the first planting season after first occupation of the 
development, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved unless a suitable alternative species 
are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.

6 All existing site vegetation and boundary trees and hedgerows shall be 
retained at a height of no less than 3metres. Any trees or plants which are 
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of a species, 
size and number to replicate the existing screening.
Reason - To ensure appropriate screening of the site to protect the visual 
appearance of the landscape.

7 Within three months of the date of this decision, details of foul water 
drainage shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. The development works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details within six months of the date such 
approval and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason – To ensure adequate provision for drainage.

8 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
Letter from GP dated 21 June 2017
Biodiversity checklist
Letter from HCC date 18 April 2017
Letters from neighbours/friends



Landscape impact assessment
Planning design and access statement
Location plan
Block plan
P-4 Rev A - elevation and floor plan

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East 
Hampshire District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach and works with applicants/agents on development proposals in 
a manner focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

 In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the 
initial site visit.

CASE OFFICER: Jon Holmes 01730 234243
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 02    Land to west of Highgate House, Lyeway Lane, Ropley, Alresford

Site plan







Item No.: 03
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or 
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Outline application - Development of up to 7ha of employment land 
(use classes B1a (office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) 
and B8 (storage and distribution) with associated access (submitted 
for detailed approval), and green infrastructure (additional 
information received on 08/05/2017, 26/05/2017 and 10/11/2017).

LOCATION: Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton
REFERENCE 49776/001 PARISH: Binsted
APPLICANT:  Tanvale Holdings Ltd
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY:

06 December 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 09 January 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr K Carter
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

Executive Summary

This application has been called before the Planning Committee for consideration and 
determination at the discretion of the Head of Planning Services.  The application relates to 
an allocated employment site (Land at Lynch Hill) as part of the Council's adopted District 
Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations, April 2016.  

Site description

The site borders but is situated outside Alton Neighbourhood Plan boundary, does not lie 
within a conservation area and the land is not designated as being of local or national 
importance to nature conservation.  There are also no buildings on the site.  The northern 
part of the site, outside the allocated employment area and Settlement Policy Boundary of 
Alton, is designated countryside land. 

The site comprises agricultural arable land bordering the Mill Lane Industrial Estate to the 
east and A31 to the west.  Alton Town Centre is situated some 2km to the south-west of the 
site.  The total site area extends to 14.3 hectares (ha), of which, the southern part of the 
site (9.4 ha) comprises allocated employment land.  The land is not uniform and flat in 
nature, with an increase in land levels from south to north before falling again towards 
Montecchio Way.  The low point of the site has a ground level of approximately 100 metres 
above ordnance datum point at the south of the site and a high point rising to approximately 
130 metres above ordnance datum towards the centre of the site.  



The existing site access is via a single lane track from Waterbrook Road to the south-west, 
where there is a private vehicle access across the land serving the Golden Chair Farm on 
the opposite side of the A31.  Vegetation cover across the site is limited, however, there is 
a dense tree belt along the north-east boundary and further vegetation cover along the 
additional site boundaries. In addition, the River Wey runs parallel along the north-west 
boundary line, at a lower land level, the A31 runs parallel to the eastern boundary with 
Montecchio Way to the north and sewage works to the south.

Proposal

The development seeks outline permission for up to 7ha of employment land (use classes 
B1a (office), B1c (light industrial), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution), 
with associated access and green infrastructure.  All other matters are reserved 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and scale. 

This is an outline application dealing with matters of principle and detailed matters in 
connection with the proposed access only.  Site access is sought from Montecchio Way, 
approximately 350 metres to the north of the allocated employment land, extending parallel 
to the tree belt along the north-west site boundary.  However, this is only an indication since 
matters relating to the layout, appearance and scale of new built form on the allocated site 
are reserved for future consideration through an application for approval of reserved 
matters.

The submitted drawings show that the access road would be cut into the hill side and 
pockets of vegetation are proposed to be removed to make way for the access. The access 
extends to a width of 7.3 metres and would allow for two way vehicular traffic movements 
with access and egress onto Montecchio Way as the single point of access to the site, in 
the form of a T-junction. This would be sited 80 metres to the north-west of the A31 / 
Montecchio Way Roundabout and approximately 100 metres to the south-east of the 
Montecchio Way and Mill Lane T-junction. The drawing show that visibility splays / sight 
lines of 73 metres would be provided in both directions from a 2.4 metres set-back position 
from the edge of the highway. 

The following information has been submitted in support of this application:

 Design and Access Statement
 Planning Statement
 Phase 1 Desktop Study
 Flood Risk Assessment
 Air Quality Assessment
 Ecological Assessment
 Noise Assessment
 Transport Statement 
 Arboricultural Implications Assessment
 Tree Survey Report
 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment



Additional information was submitted during the course of the application relating to further 
highway information, the submission of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment and 
detailed access road plans and revised visibility splays. 

Relevant Planning History

There is no relevant planning history for the application site.

Surrounding land

 Land adjacent to Upper Neatham Farm, Upper Neatham Lane, Alton (land north of site - 
opposite side of Montecchio Way)

31580/002 - Outline application - Motorists Service Area, comprising: petrol filling station, 
60-bedroom hotel and restaurant, and two drive thru restaurant/coffee shop, together with 
associated access and landscaping works (as per revised information received 26/10/2015 
and revised FRA and drainage strategy received 12/05/2016).  Refused, July 2016 and 
dismissed at appeal 16/05/2017.

 Lynch Hill Cottage, Waterbrook Road, Alton

31101/001 - Outline application - alter and extend dwelling to form 10 self-contained flats (8 
x 1 bedroom flats and 2 studio flats). Refused, May 2016.

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP3 - New employment provision
CP20 - Landscape
CP21 - Biodiversity
CP24 - Sustainable construction
CP25 - Flood Risk
CP27 - Pollution
CP28 - Green Infrastructure
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport
CP32 - Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

C6 - Tree Preservation
IB2 - Industrial or Business Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries
T2 - Public Transport Provision and Improvement
T3 - Pedestrians and Cyclists
HE8 - Development affecting the setting of a conservation area
HE12 - Development affecting the setting of a Listed Building



East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations (April 2016)

EMP1: Land at Lynch Hill

Alton Neighbourhood Plan
The application site falls just outside the designated area of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan.  
However, given the proximity of the site to Plan boundary certain policies of the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan, in particular relating to the town setting, are considered to be a 
relevant material consideration in the determination of this application with some weight 
attached.  

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

Achieving Sustainable Development
Core Planning Principles
Section 1 – Building a strong, competitive economy.
Section 2 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres.
Section 4 – Promoting sustainable transport.
Section 7 – Requiring good design.
Section 8 – Promoting healthy communities.
Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

Binsted Parish Plan 2010

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

Arboricultural Officer - No objection, subject to condition.

Drainage Consultant (EHDC) - No objection, subject to conditions.

Environment Agency - No objection.

Environmental Health (contaminated land) - No objection, subject to conditions.

Environmental Heath (pollution) - Concerns, with the following comments:

 the noise and air quality assessments submitted with this application. Both reports refer 
to the development as offices, light industrial and storage and distribution; with use 
classes B1a, B1c and B8 respectively.  However, the application also refers to B2 use.

 the noise and air quality assessments should ensure that impacts from B2 use are also 
assessed.  It is requested that revised assessments to match the uses applied for or 
confirmation from the report authors that the conclusions are also valid for B2 use.



(Officer note: this is an outline application with access the only matter under consideration. 
The applicant has provided an indication of the floorspace for various B Use Classes 
(Business), B2 being one. However, these are only indications at this stage and final ratios 
of various business uses across the site would be considered in detail as part of any 
subsequent reserved matters details).   

Landscape Officer (EHDC) - Proposal would have a moderate landscape impact on 
important gateway into Alton.  Landscape mitigation would be required in the form of 
planning along the new access road and also reinforcement planting along Montecchio Way 
to enhance the existing roadside landscape buffer.

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service - No objection, subject to proposal being carried out in 
accordance with relevant legislation, Building Control requirements and any other relevant 
guidance. 

Hampshire County Council (Archaeology) - No objection, subject to conditions.

Hampshire County Council (Highways) - No objection to the application, subject to a legal 
agreement and conditions. The legal agreement shall secure the following:

 £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill Lane/Montecchio Way junction; 
and 

 Framework Travel Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee.  A Full 
Travel Plan should be agreed and ready to implement prior to the 1st occupation. 

Hampshire County Council (Public Rights of Way) - No objection, subject to a Section 106 
agreement securing financial contributions to provide a new public footpath link between 
Binsted Footpath 1 and Footpath 2 over the bridge by Golden Chair Farm. 

Highways England - No objection.

Natural England: No response received.

South East Water - No comments received.

Thames Water - Request a Grampian Style' condition to secure details of the means of foul 
and surface water from the site. 

Traffic Management Team - No objection. 



Alton Town Council (adjacent Parish) - We welcome the development at the site, in 
principle, but objects for the following reasons:

1. The proposed access onto Montecchio Way would lead to an unacceptable increase in 
vehicular traffic using a sub-standard access junction onto what is already a congested 
area where existing traffic movements leads to traffic back-up onto the main A31 and 
Holybourne roundabout, resulting in undue interference with the safety and convenience 
of other highway users.  It is also noted that consideration of the impact of traffic flow of 
nearby locations at Mill Road, the London Road Holybourne Traffic Lights and Anstey 
Road has not been a consideration in the plans put forward at this time. It is strongly 
recommended that the developers consult with HCC/EHDC on their jointly funded Traffic 
Study which has been recently produced.

2. The height of the proposed buildings would breach the Alton skyline and the protection of 
this is a key requirement of the Town Design Statement 2008, derived from the extensive 
consultation undertaken with the Alton community.

3. Councillors considered that the following environmental impact considerations need 
further research:

(i) treatment of foul water on site may end up polluting the River Wey and that further work 
is required to improve the provision for dealing with foul water.
(ii) The Environment Agency in its comments has said that surface drainage on the site is 
inadequate.
(iii) Thames Water has suggested the imposition of a 'Grampian Style' condition imposed, 
which Alton Town Council wholly endorses. 
(iv) Local knowledge indicates that Holybourne is prone to flooding issues and more 
detailed information would be required to satisfy these concerns of surface drainage onto 
London Road, Holybourne

4. Alton Town Council does not oppose the change of use for B1a, B1c and B8; however it 
would strongly challenge the change of use for B2 usage given the environmental impact 
of noise and air quality that could result. 

Binsted Parish Council - Objection, the Council fully endorses and fully supports Alton Town 
Council's response.

Representations

30 letters of objection have been received, raising the following concerns and comments:

a) increase congestion, traffic and parking problems in the area;
b) road infrastructure is incapable of supporting such a development;
c) access should not be off Montecchio Way, where the access point is effectively a slip 

road off the A31 - proposed access should be from Waterbrook Park estate; 
d) proposal would have an adverse impact on the landscape and be prominent in the area;
e) alternative places and brownfield sites for proposed development should be considered;
f) skyline would be breached if proposed 12 metre high buildings are at the top of the 

slope;



g) proposed development would be visible from other viewpoints in the town and contrary to 
Policy DE1 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan and fundamentally change the appearance 
of Alton for residents and visitors;

h) built development should be restricted to the lower slopes of the site;
i) improvements should be made in the Town before developing areas of countryside;
j) increase flood risk;
k) traffic issues on and off Mill Lane need to be dealt with before any new units are built in 

the area;
l) empty units need to be sold / occupied first;
m) enough units on the existing trading estate - anymore should be the same height not 

taller;
n) proposed screening would be ineffective during winter months;
o) adverse impact on local wildlife;
p) increase levels of pollution; 
q) proposal would set a bad precedent for development on Alton's skyline;
r) visual impact of the proposed development on Alton's skyline is unacceptable and 

contrary to Policy DE1 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan; and
s) proposed access onto Montecchio Way is unacceptable.

One letter of support has been received, with the following comments:

t) proposal would provide much needed larger units, allowing for the retention of existing 
businesses in Alton that may otherwise need to relocate elsewhere.

Additional comments following the receipt of amended plans:

u) further congestion, make existing situation worse and more dangerous;
v) plans suggest Waterbrook Road as an alternative access Road, this is far more 

appropriate particularly is accessed from the A31 (Officer note: the additional plans show 
two theoretical junctions off the Waterbrook Road and A31. However, neither of these 
junctions are considered to be viable and deliverable for reasons outlined below); and 

w) access option 3b indicates a new access passing directly through our car park/land; and 
rented housing more important requirement for Alton, when large segment of existing 
industrial estate is vacant. 

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Access and highway issues

 Site access
 Junction assessment 

3. Impact on the landscape character
4. Viability and deliverability
5. Impact on neighbouring properties
6. Trees / vegetation
7. Flooding / drainage
8. Ecology
9. Archaeology / Heritage assets
10. Sustainable development 
11. Developer contributions



Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

As required by section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
applications must be determined in line with the adopted development plan for the area, 
unless material considerations apply.  The development plan for EHDC comprises the 
'saved' policies of the 2006 Local Plan: Second Review and the policies set out in the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) and the Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
(2016).  Material considerations in respect of national planning policy are the NPPF, the 
recently published National Planning Policy Guidance and any other matters that are 
considered material to the proposal.

Policy CP3 (New Employment Provision) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy set out the 
employment provision and distribution in the District within the plan period, with criterion (b) 
providing for about 7ha of employment land in Alton.  Policy EMP1 of the Housing and 
Employment Land Allocations - (Land at Lynch Hill) identifies the southern half of the 
application site for employment provision (B Class Uses), with 7 hectares of the total 9.4 
hectares of land being allocated for employment use.   

Policy EMP1 sets out the following development criteria for the site:

Development shall:

a) provide vehicular access to the site;
b) ensure any significant negative traffic impact is mitigated on the local road network;
c) provide an on-site movement layout suitable for all potential users, linked to existing

external routes including the Public Rights of Way network;
d) provide landscaping and screening to minimise the impact of development on the

setting of Alton;
e) provide a buffer zone along the river to protect and enhance the biodiversity value 
and

prevent further erosion of the river and its corridor; and
f) be supported by a Biodiversity Enhancement and Mitigation Scheme and include measures to protect key species and habitats on site.

This application is outline in nature, with those matters for consideration being access and 
green infrastructure only.  Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, in 
connection with the employment site, are not for consideration under this application. These 
matters are reserved for any future reserved matters applications. 

With the site being allocated for employment land and the application seeking outline 
planning permission (access and green infrastructure only) for up to 7ha of employment 
land (B Use Classes), in-line with the site allocation, the principle of development is 
acceptable.  Therefore, the consideration and review of the proposal is limited to those 
matters in regards to the principle of development and those detailed matters relating to 
access and green infrastructure. These are considered in detail below. 



2. Access and highway issues

The application site is located approximately 1.4km from the centre of Alton, with Alton 
Railway Station 1.1km away from the Waterbrook Road access. Bus stops are located on 
both sides of Wilsom Road, some 700 metres to the south-west of the site.  The application 
details a new access point onto Montecchio Way and the provision of a new road running 
parallel to a tree belt to access the allocated employment land, situated between 250 and 
350 metres from the Montecchio Way junction.  The site levels rise by some 20 metres from 
the Montecchio Way junction to the allocated site.  

 Site Access 

The site is currently accessed via an unmade track from Waterbrook Road, which is 
unsuitable for the proposed intensified use. This matter is discussed in more detail in 
Section 4 of this report. 

The proposed site access is onto Montecchio Way via a new priority T-junction, with the 
amended plans showing visibility splays of 2.4m x 74m to both the east and west.  Changes 
in land levels are required to facilitate the new junction, with additional plans provided 
showing the extent of the changes to the land levels to facilitate the access.  The present 
ground levels rise some 20 metres from Montecchio Way to the allocated employment land 
site.  

The new T-junction would be positioned on the south side of Montecchio Way positioned 
approximately halfway between the Mill Lane T-junction and the Montecchio Way / A31 
roundabout junction.  Hampshire County Council, as the Local Highway Authority, has 
considered the proposal and have advised that subject to securing a Travel Plan and 
financial contributions for improvements to the local road network, the access is considered 
to be acceptable.  These items would need to be secured through a Planning Obligation. 
As such, the development is considered to have an acceptable impact on highway safety, 
would provide a safe vehicular access to the site and would not have a significant negative 
impact on the local road network.  Therefore, the proposal accords with Policy CP31 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, criteria (a) and (b) of Policy EMP1 of the Housing and 
Employment Land Allocations and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

 Junction Assessment

There is an access to the site via Waterbrook Road, which is a single lane unmade track 
that serves Lynch Hill Cottage, Golden Chair Farm and Golden Chair Cottage.  This is 
considered to be the preferred access option to and from the allocated site.  However, it 
does not form part of the application and it has been demonstrated that there are significant 
restrictions preventing the access being used.  These relate to land in different ownership, 
loss of existing buildings and financial restrictions impacting on the viability of the 
development. As such, the potential Waterbrook Road is not considered to be a viable 
access option at this time. 



A further access option is from the A31.  However, this has also been found to be unviable, 
due to the restricted exit slip road length with a nearby bridge.  Also, such an access would 
result in a significant reduction in the employment land on the flattest part of the allocated 
site.  For these reasons, the Montecchio Way junction is considered to be the most 
appropriate, viable and deliverable of the different site access option. 

In summary, subject to conditions and a legal agreement securing a Travel Plan and the 
financial contributions for improvements towards the Mill Lane / Montecchio Way junction, 
the development is considered to provide a safe access to the site and not have any 
significant negative traffic impact on the local road network. The application, therefore, 
complies with Policy CP31 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Policy EMP1 of the 
Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations. 

3. Impact on the landscape character

A Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal has been submitted in support of this application, 
which concludes the visual impacts would not be significant due to the general lack of 
receptors to the north and east, the low sensitivity of receptors within the Mill Lane / A31 
corridor areas and the presence of existing tree buffers to the north-west and east. 

The Council's Landscape Officer has reviewed the proposal, together with the submitted 
Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal and has raised an objection with the following 
comments: 

"Landscape objection is to the proposed access from Montecchio Way due to the loss of 
vegetation from cutting an access road up the slope.  The LVIA states that at Views 12 and 
13 ‘ the proposed entrance will result in some vegetation removal and earthwork. However 
the significance of effects are stated as being minor adverse, even in the first year, whereas 
it is considered to be moderate adverse as this is an important gateway into Alton so the 
visual receptors are medium low rather than low.  It is also considered that the visual impact 
at from Brookham Hill and Holybourne Down (Viewpoint 14) would be moderate rather than 
minor adverse due to the extension of the built up area of Alton in this view.  The LVIA 
states that ‘the access road and parts of the built form would be apparent, albeit softened 
by proposed tree planting  However, it would take a long time for the ‘softening to take 
effect on this view." 

From the conclusions of the Landscape Officer, it is considered that the access point and 
access road extending from Montecchio Way to the allocated employment site would result 
in moderate landscape harm to an important gateway into Alton along Montecchio Way. 
The proposal would result in some vegetation removal along Montecchio Way and notable 
engineering operations with cut and fill activities to provide a suitable access road up the 
hillside.  These operations are required due to the increase in land levels of approximately 
20 metres from Montecchio Way to the allocated site. 

These works would result in the introduction of an urban feature within the landscape with 
views from public land largely to the north and east of the site. Also, it would have an 
impact on a key view into Alton, as set out in Policy DE1 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan. 
On this basis, the access road is not considered to conserve or enhance the District's 
natural environment and is, therefore, contrary to Policy CP20 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy. 



In addition, whilst it is acknowledge that the access junction and road would harm the local 
landscape character, at least in the short term, this degree of harm could be mitigated to 
some degree in the medium and long term with appropriate tree planting running the length 
of the road to appear as a continuation of the adjacent woodland along the River Wey, 
which would partly screen the road from long range views in the immediate and wider 
landscape. 

The proposal, for the aforementioned reasons, is considered to have an adverse impact 
and harm to the immediate local landscape and impact on views into Alton. As such, the 
proposal would not accord with Policy CP20 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, Policy 
DE1 of the Alton Neighbourhood Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF.  

4. Viability and deliverability

The Council's Economic Development Team have carried out an Economic Statement - 
Access Options Appraisal Report of the proposal to robustly assess the three different site 
vehicular access options against the viability and deliverability of the allocated employment 
site.  The report concludes that:

 The access off Montecchio Way is the most viable option for delivery of the employment 
land allocation (EMPI – Land at Lynch Hill), given the uncertainty surrounding the 
delivery of the access off Waterbrook Road and taking into consideration, financial 
viability. 

 Access off Waterbrook Road, whilst most logical and perhaps preferable, has significant 
barriers to its delivery, most notably, the residential property and land at Lynch Hill 
Cottage (which would form part of the new access) is in different ownership to the 
proposed development.  The residential property and associated land is currently 
occupied for residential purposes and is not on the market for sale.  The owners are 
under no obligation to release/ sell the site in order to facilitate delivery of the 
employment allocation / proposed development. 

 Forming the access off Waterbrook Road may require acquisition of a strip of land from 
the land immediately to the west of the access leading to Lynch Hill, which is also in 
different ownership.  The value of the strip of land, if included in the financial viability 
appraisal, would most likely increase the deficit.  There is also concern over negotiation 
with multiple land owners. It is worth noting that Waterbrook Road is not currently an 
adopted road. 

 Therefore, if the proposed access off Montecchio Way were to be refused planning 
permission, then the decision would result in uncertainty over deliverability of the 
employment allocation (EMPI – Land at Lynch Hill) for business use employment.  This 
would have implications for local economic development (business growth, expansion, 
inward investment and jobs) and the district Local Plan allocations. 



From the conclusions of this report, it has been demonstrated that the Montecchio Way 
junction and access road to the allocated site is viable and the most likely access option to 
ensure the deliverability to the allocated employment land.  The alternative access options 
are either not viable, technically unachievable or would likely inhibit the planned 
development at Lynch Hill.  This would have knock-on impacts to the local and wider 
economy, limit job creation and opportunities for new and existing businesses in the District.  
It would also impact upon the new employment land provision in the District with the 
allocated Lynch Hill site representing a third of the District's total employment land 
allocation in the plan period (2028). 

Therefore, it is concluded that whilst the alternative access via Waterbrook Road would be 
the preferred access to the site, there are demonstrable limitations preventing this option 
being brought forward.  As such, the Montecchio Way access is considered to be the only 
viable and deliverable access to best enable the site to be delivered within the Plan period.  
This is considered to have substantial weight in the determination of this application. 

5. Impact on neighbouring properties

The site is bordered by the Mill Lane industrial area to the west and the A31 is situated to 
the east of the site.  There are few neighbouring residential properties, with the exception of 
Lynch Hill Cottage neighbouring the site towards the south-west corner and two further 
dwellings on the opposite side of the A31 (Golden Chair Farm and Golden Chair Cottage).  
There is also a group of buildings (Upper Neatham Mill Farm, The Forge, Upper Neatham 
Mill House) situated to the north of the site on the opposite side, approximately 100 metres 
to the north of Montecchio Way. 

At this stage, with all matters reserved, other than access, a full assessment of the impact 
on neighbouring amenity is not possible.  However, the proposed access would be situated 
away from those neighbouring and surrounding properties and the illustrative layout plan 
shows a landscape buffer to the closest neighbouring property, Lynch Hill Cottage. 

Although the access would create new vehicle movements across the site and this is likely 
to result in some additional noise and disturbance above that of the existing situation, due 
to the location and relationship of the new access, it is not considered to result in an 
unacceptable impact on noise and disturbance on the occupants of the neighbouring and 
surrounding properties, since there is already substantial vehicle movements on 
Montecchio Way and the A31.  As such, the proposed access is considered to accord with 
Policy CP27 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the 
NPPF.  

6. Trees / vegetation

There is a belt of vegetation comprising small trees and scrub vegetation set back and 
parallel with Montecchio Way and a pocket of woodland between the River Wey and the 
north-west boundary line of the site.  The Council's Tree Officer has reviewed the proposal 
and raised no objection, subject to a condition requiring the submission of an Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan at the reserved matters stage. It is noted that 
replacement tree planting could be secured through the submission of the landscaping 
reserved matters to mitigate this. 



As such, no objections are raised to the removal of some of the existing vegetation on site 
and alongside Montecchio Way to facilitate the proposed new junction and access road. 
   
7. Flooding / Drainage 

The site is located in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding) and there are no known 
historic flooding issues affecting the site. However, there is potential that the proposal 
would generate significant run-off that could, if not controlled on site, increase the risk of 
flooding to people and property elsewhere. 

The Council's Drainage Consultant and the Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the 
proposal and have not raised any objections at this outline stage.  However, as part of any 
reserved matters proposal the Local Lead Flood Authority have requested the following 
information be provided as part of a detailed design:

 Infiltration tests to BRE 365 
 Detailed calculations for the surface water drainage system 
 Information on the potential overland flow from the systems if the capacity of the system 

is exceeded 
 
This is consistent with the response from the Council's Drainage Consultant and therefore, 
subject to the imposition of a condition requiring the submission and agreement of details of 
how to deal with matters of surface water on site and prevent an increase in surface water 
run-off and discharge rates from the site, the proposal would not result in an increase in the 
risk of flooding to people and property above the existing situation.  This would accord with 
Policy CP25 (Flood Risk) of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained 
within the NPPF. 

6. Ecology

The application is accompanied by an updated Ecological Assessment that sets out the 
potential impact of the proposal to any protected species on site.  The County Ecologist has 
reviewed the Assessment and raised no objection, subject to a condition requiring the 
submission and agreement of an ecological mitigation and enhancement strategy prior to 
the commencement of any development activities.  Subject to the recommended condition, 
the proposal is considered to maintain and protect the District's biodiversity in accordance 
with Policy CP21 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, the advice contained within the 
NPPF, the Conservation Regulations 2010, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 and NERC Act 
2006.

8. Archaeology / Heritage assets

The County Archaeologist has reviewed the proposal and commented that the site appears 
to have good archaeological potential with previous finds on and around the site, although 
there has been no previous known development on the land.  Therefore, it is possible that 
the site contains unrecorded archaeological features and/or deposits that are likely to be 
well preserved.  It has been advised that fieldwork is required to understand the nature, 
character and the extent of this archaeological potential prior to the commencement of any 
development. 



A condition is recommended to ensure the relevant investigations and recording, if 
necessary, are carried out prior to any construction works taking place.  On this basis, the 
proposal is not considered to have an adverse impact on the archeological and potential 
heritage value of the site, in accordance with Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF. 

In addition, the site itself is not subject of any designated Heritage Assets. However, Anstey 
Conservation Area lies some 400 metres to the north-west. Also, there is a small group of 
listed buildings opposite the Waterbrook Road / Mill Lane junction (Anstey Mill, Mill House, 
HRH House and Wey Cottage) and a further listed building (Upper Neatham) some 100 
metres north of the Montecchio Way T-junction. All these buildings are grade II listed. 
Furthermore, the boundary to the South Downs National Park is situated some 2.5km to the 
east of the site. 

This outline application deals with matters of principle and access only, to which, given the 
separation distance and nature of the development sought, are neither considered to harm 
the setting of those listed buildings in the immediate area and are also not considered to 
harm the settings of either the South Downs National Park or the Anstey Conservation 
Area. The proposal, therefore, accords with Policy CP30 of the Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy, Policy HE8 and HE12 of the Local Plan: Second Review, the advice contained 
within the NPPF and provision 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990.  

9. Sustainable development 

Policy CP24 of the JCS requires new development to promote the conservation of energy 
by seeking the highest practicable degree of energy efficiency.  The proposal is for a major 
development and, under Policy CP24, there is a requirement that the development achieve 
a Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) rating of 
"Excellent".  This can be secured by condition would accord with Policy CP24 of the Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF.   

10. Developer contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy

The three tests as set out in Regulation 122(2), together with the advice outlined in the 
NPPF, require S.106 agreements to be:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

The following matters have been identified, which would need to be secured through a 
Planning Obligation. 

 Transportation improvements and Travel Plan in accordance with policies CP31 of the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and T2 of the Local Plan: Second Review (as saved).

 Employment and workforce skills in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy



The transportation improvements relate to a financial contribution of £136,500 towards an 
improvement scheme for the Mill Lane/Montecchio Way junction and a Framework Travel 
Plan and associated bond, approval fee and monitoring fee.  

The employment and work force skills are recommended by the Council's Economic 
Development Team, with project costs of £53,694 and further contributions of £113,735 if 
the owner elects not to provide employment and trading posts. Should neither be carried 
out there is an alternative payment of £156,668.   

In addition to the above contributions, Hampshire County Council, Countryside Service are 
£122,595 for the provision of a new footpath linking to existing ones. Presently there is a 
public footpath (Binsted Footpath 1) running alongside much of the north-west boundary 
line, which connects to another footpath (Binsted Footpath 2) to the north of the site on the 
opposite side of Montecchio Road. Both these public footpaths lie outside the boundaries of 
the application site and would not be directly impacted upon by the development. 

The Countryside team have raised concerns that the existing public footpath network is 
fragmented, and it has been identified through public consultation that a new, safer, route 
be via the bridge that presently provides access to Golden Chair Farm. This would be 
across the development site and land allocated for employment purposes. There is 
presently no public right of way across the site.

On review of the contributions, both by Officers and the Council's legal team, it has been 
concluded that the contributions sought are not directly related to the development and 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. As such, the 
contributions sought by Hampshire County Council Countryside Service do not accord with 
the three tests as set out in Regulation 122(2) of the CIL Regulations, together with the 
advice outlined in the NPPF and are not being sought.

With the exception of the countryside contributions, the transport and employment 
workforce skills contributions would need to be secured by a legal obligation under S106 of 
the 1990 Planning Act.  Whilst no such obligation has been completed, the applicant is 
preparing an agreement and negotiations are ongoing.  Subject to completion of a 
satisfactory obligation, the requirements of policies CP5 and CP31 of the Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy would be met.

The contributions sought are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the development and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind of development sought.  As such, the contributions comply with Regulations 122(2) of 
The Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and the requirements as outlined in 
paragraph 204 of the NPPF.

Lastly, development falling within the B Use Classes (Offices, Industrial and Warehousing), 
in-line with the Council's adopted CIL Charging Schedule Planning Contributions and 
Community Infrastructure Levy: Supplementary Planning Document are not liable for any 
CIL contributions. Therefore, no CIL payments are required under this proposal. 



Response to Parish and Town Council Comments

Alton Town Council and Binsted Parish Council have both raised concerns to the proposal, 
for the following summarised reasons:

 highway safety and increases in local congestion;
 height of the proposed buildings would breach Alton sky line; and
 environmental impact of noise and air quality issues.

In response, the Local Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council) has considered the 
proposal in great detail and concluded that the proposed access would not result in any 
significant negative traffic impact on the local road network and the access is not 
considered to have an adverse impact on highway safety.  

Matters of building scale, appearance and layout are not for consideration with the details of 
building heights outlined in the supporting Design and Access Statement being illustrative 
only at this outline stage.  These matters would be for consideration on the receipt of 
subsequent reserved matters application(s). 
In addition, the allocated site has been allocated for employment uses which includes 
potential for B2 use where suitable conditions could be used to ensure there are no 
unacceptable levels of noise and air quality. 

Conclusion

The development seeks outline planning permission for the development of 7ha of 
employment land (B use classes) with access and principle being the only matters for 
consideration.  Matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved for 
future consideration through an application for approval of reserved matters.  The access, 
as submitted and detailed as part of the application, is by means of a T- junction off 
Montecchio Way and a new road extending up the existing hillside to the allocated site as 
set out within the Council's Housing and Employment Land Allocations, April 2016 (Policy 
EMP1).

As an allocated site, the principle of the development is accepted. It has been identified that 
the new access would result in a moderate harm to the local landscape and impact upon 
one of the gateways into Alton along Montecchio Way.  However, it has also been 
demonstrated that the Montecchio Way access to the site is the one access that is both 
viable and deliverable and the alternative access options have been found to be either 
unviable or have a significant impact on the likely deliverability of the allocated site. It is 
advised, therefore, that the benefits arising from the deliverability of the allocated site within 
the Plan period are considered to outweigh the identified moderate landscape harm, which 
could decrease over time subject to the agreement of suitable landscaping planting. 

Furthermore, matters relating to highway safety, ecology, flooding/drainage, neighbouring 
amenity, trees and archaeology are, subject to appropriate conditions, considered to be 
acceptable.  Those reserved matters of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are not 
for considering under this application and would be reviewed as part of future reserved 
matters application(s). 



To conclude, the landscape harm resulting from the proposal is considered to be 
outweighed in this instance by the significant benefits resulting from the deliverability of the 
allocated employment site within the Plan period, where it has been demonstrated that 
alternative access points to the site would likely prevent this.  As such, when reading the 
development plan as a whole, together with the advice contained within the NPPF and the 
Council's adopted Housing and Employment Allocations, the proposal is considered to be 
consistent with the development plan and the primary purpose of the NPPF in support of 
sustainable development. 

RECOMMENDATION Provided that a legal obligation is completed to secure:

1. A financial contribution of £136,500 towards an improvement scheme for the Mill 
Lane/Montecchio Way junction and a Framework Travel Plan and associated 
bond, approval fee and monitoring fee in accordance with policies CP5, CP31, 
CP32 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and policy T2 and T3 of the Local 
Plan: Second Review; and

2. Employment and work force contributions and project costs of £53,694 and further 
contributions of £113,735 if the owner elects not to provide employment and 
trading posts. Should neither be carried out a payment of £156,668 is required, 

by 01/05/2018, then the Head of Planning be authorised to grant PERMISSION subject to 
the following conditions.  

In the event that the above financial contributions set out above are not secured, then 
planning permission will be refused under the adopted scheme of delegation, unless the 
Head of Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, authorises further 
time extension(s) for the completion of the legal agreement.

1 Applications for the approval of the matters referred to herein shall be 
made within a period of three years from the date of this permission.  The 
development to which the permission relates shall be begun not later 
than whichever is the later of the following dates:-

(i) three years from the date of this permission; or
(ii) two years from the final approval of the said reserved matters, or, in 
the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.

Reason - To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990.

2 No development shall start on site until plans and particulars showing 
details relating to appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale of the 
development shall be submitted to, and approved by the Planning 
Authority.  These details shall comprise the 'reserved matters' and shall 
be submitted within the time constraints referred to in Condition 1 above 
before any development is commenced. 
Reason - To comply with Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order).



3 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, which shall include:

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and 
construction work; The provision of long term facilities for 
contractor parking;

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works;

 Methods and phasing of construction works;
 Access and egress for plant and machinery;
 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 

material, and plant storage areas;
 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 

development during construction period; and
 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance 

or demolition work.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with 
the approved method statement.
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider 
the effect of the works on the amenity of the locality.

4 No development shall start on site, excluding works relating to the 
approved access, until the access is constructed via a highway works 
agreement and completed to certificate standard and lines of site are 
provided in accordance with the approved plans.  The lines of site splays 
shown on the approved plan shall be kept free of any obstruction 
exceeding 0.6 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall 
be subsequently maintained so thereafter.
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility 
in the interests of highway safety.

5 No development shall commence on site until plans of the site showing 
details of the existing and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor 
levels, levels of any paths, accesses and parking areas and the proposed 
completed height of the development and any retaining walls have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  
The details shall clearly identify the relationship of the proposed ground 
levels and proposed completed height with adjacent buildings.  The 
development thereafter shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.
Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory relationship results between the 
new development and adjacent buildings and public areas.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission.



6 Before any part of the development is first brought into use a verification 
report and completion certificate shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority confirming that the built 
development hereby permitted has achieved a BREEAM rating of 
"Excellent". The developer shall nominate a competent person for the 
purpose of assessing and providing the above required report and 
certificate to confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures 
as to provide the required energy savings. 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission.

7 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for 
surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for 
all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of hardstanding 
to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway and should 
be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any 
part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition.

8 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and 
avoid discharge of water onto the public highway.

9 Prior to the commencement of any development activities an ecological 
mitigation and enhancement strategy (to include but not necessarily be 
restricted to: location, extent, timing and methods of all measures for the 
protection and management of ecological compensation and 
enhancement features; detailed lighting strategy for bats; details of post-
development monitoring for protected species) shall be submitted to, and 
agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall be in 
accordance with the outline mitigation, compensation and enhancement 
measures detailed within the Ecological Assessment (ECOSA, January 
2017). Any such measures shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the agreed details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. All ecological mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures shall be permanently retained and maintained.
 



Reason - To provide ecological protection and enhancement in 
accordance with the Conservation Regulations 2010, Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981, NERC Act 2006, NPPF and Policy CP21 of the 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.

10 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment in 
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that has been 
submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority in order to 
recognise, characterise and record any archaeological features and 
deposits that may exist here. The assessment should initially take the 
form of a geophysical survey in order to map anomalies of possible 
archaeological origin within the site, followed by the excavation of trial 
trenches that are located across these anomalies, with further trenching 
located across the remainder of the development area in order to check 
for features missed by the Geophysics. 
Reason - To assess the extent, nature and date of any archaeological 
deposits that might be present and the impact of the development upon 
these heritage assets.  It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-
commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission.

11 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation of impact, 
based on the results of the trial trenching, in accordance with a Written 
Scheme of Investigation that has been submitted to and approved by the 
Planning Authority.
Reason - To mitigate the effect of the works associated with the 
development upon any heritage assets and to ensure that information 
regarding these heritage assets is preserved by record for future 
generations. It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-
commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission.

12 Following completion of archaeological fieldwork a report will be produced 
in accordance with an approved programme including where appropriate 
post-excavation assessment, specialist analysis and reports, publication 
and public engagement.
Reason - To contribute to our knowledge and understanding of our past 
by ensuring that opportunities are taken to capture evidence from the 
historic environment and to make this publicly available.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.



13 No development shall start on site, including any felling, demolition, or 
other alteration of the existing condition of the site at the date of this 
permission, until a survey of the site has been undertaken and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The survey 
shall include the following details :- 

a) Arboricultural Implication Statement and Method Statement including 
exact location, assessment of condition and size by stem diameter, 
species and accurate crown spread of all trees, over 100mm stem 
diameter at 1.5 metres above existing adjacent ground level, on the 
site and indicating those proposed to be felled and the root protection 
areas and positions and details of protection measures to be 
employed during building operations;

b) details of proposed hard surfaced areas and service routes within the 
root protection areas; 

c) existing and final intended levels across the site and adjacent to any 
existing tree group;

d) all natural features such as hedgerows, ponds, streams and large 
shrubs and the treatment proposed;

e) provision of a Tree Protection Plan to safeguard trees during 
construction.

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason - To safeguard the existing trees and ensure the enhancement of 
the development, by the retention of natural features.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.

14 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a landscape/open space management plan, including a maintenance 
schedule indicating proposals for the long-term management of 
landscape areas, other than small has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscape/open space shall 
thereafter be managed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason - To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing 
enhancement and maintenance of amenity afforded by landscape 
features of communal, public, nature conservation, or historical 
significance.

15 Notwithstanding the changes of use permitted within Part 3 of Schedule 2 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) the 
development hereby permitted shall be used for purposes within Class B 
(B1(a), B1(c), B2 and B8) of the Town and Country (Use Classes) Order 
(or any order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) 1987 only, 
and for no other purpose.
Reason - In order to maintain control over future use of the premises in 
the interests of the general amenity of the area and/or highway safety.



16 Before the development hereby permitted is first brought into use details 
of the provision to be made within the site for storage, prior to disposal, of 
refuse, crates, packing etc. shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the Planning Authority and this provision shall be made available upon 
implementation of the planning permission.
Reason - To ensure that the visual appearance of the area is not 
detrimentally affected and/or that no obstruction is caused to the adjoining 
highway.

17 The use hereby permitted shall only be carried out within the site between 
07:00 and 18:00 Mondays to Fridays and 07:30 and 13:30 on Saturdays 
and at no time on Sundays and Public Holidays.
Reason - To ensure that the amenities of the area are not detrimentally 
affected by the use of the site outside reasonable working times.

18 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) no materials shall be stacked, stored or 
deposited in the open on the site at anytime. 
Reason - To ensure that the visual appearance of the area is not 
adversely affected.

19 No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until 
details for the on site provision of cycle storage facilities have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be occupied until the cycle storage has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details and thereafter 
retained and kept available.
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site facilities.

20 No development shall commence on site until the following details have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority:-

(a)   a scheme outlining a site investigation and risk assessments 
designed to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the 
site. 

(b)   a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the 
extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all potential 
risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site model (devised 
in the desktop study), identification of all pollutant linkages and unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and identified 
as unnecessary in the written report, an appraisal of remediation options 
and proposal of the preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the 
type of contamination found on site.

and (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority)



(c)   a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to 
human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment. The scheme should include all works to be undertaken, 
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works, site management procedures and a verification plan outlining 
details of the data to be collected in order to demonstrate the completion 
of the remediation works and any arrangements for the continued 
monitoring of identified pollutant linkages.

The above reports should be completed by a competent person, as 
stipulated in the National Planning Policy Framework, Annex 2, and site 
works should be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and BS10175:2011 Investigation of potentially 
contaminated sites - Code of practice.
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite.  It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed 
prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of 
the planning permission.

21 Before any part of the development is first occupied or brought into use 
(unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority) a 
verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the remediation 
works carried out and a completion certificate confirming that the 
approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

The verification report and completion certificate shall be submitted in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

22 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application Form 
Design and Access Statement
Planning Statement
Phase 1 Desktop Study



Flood Risk Assessment
Air Quality Assessment
Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal, May 2017 (received on 
26/05/2017).
Ecological Assessment Final Rev. 1 Document, January 2017
Noise Assessment
Trip Rate Calculation selection 
Transport Statement 
Transport Statement Appendix G
Transport Statement Appendix A
Arboricultural Implications Assessment 
Tree Survey Report
PA002 - Site Boundary 
MP001 - Illustrative Masterplan 
SA001 - Constraints
Existing Survey sheet 1
Existing Survey sheet 2
Existing Survey sheet 3
Existing Survey sheet 4

Additional plans received on 10/11/2017:

Visibility Splays at Proposed Access (0001-SK01) (dated - 01/09/17)
Access Option 1 - BR1420-1-001 Rev. A (dated 12/12/14)
Access Option 1 Main Layout - BR1420-1-010 (dated 12/01/14)
Long Section (Sheet 1 of 3) - BR1420-1-020 (dated 12/12/14)
Long Section (Sheet 2 of 3) - BR1420-1-021 (dated 12/12/14)
Long Section (Sheet 3 of 3) - BR1420-1-022 (dated 12/12/14)
Cross Sections BR1420-1-030 (dated 12/01/2017)
Access Option 1 Cut and Fill - BR1420-1-040 (dated 12/01/2015)

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development.

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East 
Hampshire District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach and works with applicants/agents on development proposals in 
a manner focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance, the applicant was provided with pre-application advice 
and updated of issues during the review and consideration of the 
application. The applicant submitted the amendments / additional 
information, were required, and no further assistance was required.  



2 Please note that this permission is subject to a Planning Obligation made 
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3 All development shall be stopped immediately in the event that 
contamination not previously identified is found to be present on the 
development site and details of the contamination shall be reported 
immediately in writing to Environmental Health.  An investigation and 
risk assessment should then be undertaken by competent persons and in 
accordance with ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.  A written report of the findings, to include a 
remediation statement, should then be forwarded to the Local Planning 
Authority for appraisal.  Following completion of remedial measures a 
verification report should be prepared that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out.  It is recommended that no 
part of the development be occupied until all remedial and validation 
works are complete and a Completion Certificate has been issued.  This 
would ensure that no future investigation is required under Part2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990.

CASE OFFICER: Matthew Harding 01730 234233
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 03    Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton

Illustrative Master Plan



SECTION 1   Item 03    Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton

Site location plan



SECTION 1   Item 03   Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton

Visibility splays







PART 2

SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING 

Applications to be determined by the council on behalf 
of the South Downs National Park Authority

12 February 2018

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

Agenda Item 

Report to

01

Planning Committee
Date 12 February 2018
By Head of Planning
Local Authority East Hampshire District Council
Application
Number

SDNP/17/06038/HOUS

Applicant Mr Alex Stone
Application Two storey extension to rear
Address 8 Rival Moor Road, Petersfield, GU31 4HB

Recommendation: That the application be Approved for the reasons and 
subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 10 of this report.

Executive Summary

This application has been referred to the Planning Committee as the applicant's wife is a
member of Council's staff.



1 Site Description

8 Rival Moor Road is a two storey end of terrace dwelling situated on a corner plot 
within Rival Moor Road, Petersfield. The 'middle' properties in this terrace of four 
dwellings, 4 and 6 Rival Moor Road, face the west, but the 'end properties' 2 and 8 
Rival Moor Road face outwards to the north and south. Although 8 Rival Moor Road 
has parking on the western side of the dwelling and garden on the eastern side, the 
principal elevation is to the south elevation. The site lies within the settlement policy 
boundary, designated Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan area and within the South 
Downs National Park.

2 Proposal

Permission is sought for a two-storey extension located on the eastern side of the 
dwelling. It would accommodate a living/dining area at ground floor and a bedroom and 
en-suite at first floor. The proposal would extend 4 metres from the eastern wall of the 
dwelling, and would have a gabled roof to match the existing.

3 Relevant Planning History

None relevant.

4 Consultations 

Petersfield Town Council - No objection.

5 Representations

1 representation has been received raising the following concerns:

a) Loss of light from proposed two storey extension due to 'blocking up' gap in-
between dwelling and existing tall trees on the boundary which currently 
affords light to this neighbours' patio/lawn. (Neighbour suggests a 'new gap' 
be created in the tree line perhaps through removing first conifer nearest the 
dwelling and reducing the height of the remaining tree line to allow more light 
into neighbours' garden)

6 Planning Policy Context
Applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory development plan in this area 
is the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 2nd Revision 2006, East Hampshire 
District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, SDNPA Partnership Management Plan 
2014, South Downs National Park Local Plan - Pre-Submission September 2017, 
Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan.
 
The relevant policies to this application are set out in section 7, below.



National Park Purposes
The two statutory purposes of the SDNP designation are:

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage,  
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the 

special qualities of their areas.
If there is a conflict between these two purposes, conservation takes precedence. 
There is also a duty to foster the economic and social well being of the local community 
in pursuit of these purposes.  

7 Planning Policy 

Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and 
the Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which was issued and came into effect on 27 March 2012. 
The Circular and NPPF confirm that National Parks have the highest status of 
protection and the NPPF states at paragraph 115 that great weight should be given to 
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in the national parks and that the 
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations and should 
also be given great weight in National Parks. 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
The following National Planning Policy Framework documents have been considered in 
the assessment of this application: 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly 
relevant to the consideration of the development;

Core planning principles: Paragraph 17: Good amenity for all.

Section 7 - Requiring good design.

The following policies of the Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan (2015) are relevant to this 
application:

Policy BEP1: The character, setting and quality of the town's built environment
Policy BEP6: The Settlement Boundary

The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance 
with the NPPF and are considered to be complaint with the NPPF.



The following policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 2nd Revision 2006
are relevant to this application:

• HE2 - Alterations and Extensions to Buildings

The following policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core 
Strategy are relevant to this application:

• CP1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

• CP2 - Spatial Strategy

• CP27 - Pollution

• CP29 - Design

• CP31 – Transport

The following policies of the South Downs National Park Local Plan - Pre-
Submission September 2017 are relevant to this application:

• Core Policy SD1 - Sustainable Development

• Strategic Policy SD5 - Design

• Development Management Policy SD22 - Parking Provision

• Development Management Policy SD31 - Extensions to existing dwellings, and 
provision of annexes and outbuildings

Partnership Management Plan
The South Downs Partnership Management Plan (SDPMP) was adopted on 3 
December 2013. It sets out a Vision and long term Outcomes for the National Park, as 
well as 5 year Policies and a continually updated Delivery Framework. The SDPMP is 
a material consideration in planning applications and has some weight pending 
adoption of the SDNP Local Plan. 

The following Policies and Outcomes are of particular relevance to this case:

 General Policy 1



The Draft South Downs National Park Local Plan

The South Downs Local Plan: Pre-Submission Local Plan was published under 
Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 for public consultation between 26th September to 21st November 
2017. After this period, the next stage in the plan preparation will be the submission of 
the Local Plan for independent examination and thereafter adoption.  Until this time, 
the Pre-Submission Local Plan is a material consideration in the assessment of this 
planning application in accordance with paragraph 216 of the NPPF, which confirms 
that weight may be given to policies in emerging plans following publication unless 
other material considerations indicate otherwise.  Based on the current stage of 
preparation, along with the fact that the policies are compliant with the NPPF, the 
policies within the Pre-Submission Local Plan referenced are currently afforded some 
weight.

8 Planning Assessment

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of the area
4. Highway implications
5. Impact on the South Downs National Park

Planning Considerations

1. Principle of development

Policy CP1 of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to development within the 
Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in favour of 
development. Policy CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out five 
levels of sustainable settlements. Policy CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB 
and sets out five levels of sustainable settlements. The application site falls within the 
SPB identified within the Neighbourhood Plan, and given that the proposal is for the 
extension of an existing residential property, the principle of the development is 
acceptable in accordance with Policy CP2 of the JCS and Policy BEP6 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  All other material planning considerations and policies will be 
discussed below.



2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of 
privacy or excessive overshadowing. Policy CP29 criterion (d) requires development to 
be sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, height, massing and density, and its 
relationship to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings and landscape features. 
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF amongst other core principles, requires development to 
provide a good level of amenity for all new and existing occupants of land and 
buildings.

The application has been the subject of a site visit where the impact on all 
neighbouring properties has been assessed.

8 Rival Moor Road is an end of terrace property. The attached property to the north, 6 
Rival Moor Road, has already extended with a two storey extension to its rear (east), 
adjacent to this proposal. The proposed extension would project approximately 1.56 
metres further to the east (back) than this neighbour's rear elevation and it would be 
set away from the shared side boundary by approximately 0.3 metres, which reduces 
potential neighbour impact with regards to outlook and loss of light. The depth and 
siting of the proposal is such that it would not appear overly dominant or result in 
excessive overshadowing and is considered to have an acceptable impact on the 
amenities enjoyed by this neighbouring occupier.

There are no side windows which would face the property to the north and, therefore, 
the privacy of this neighbouring property would remain as before. If permission is 
granted it is recommended that a condition be attached to ensure that no windows are 
inserted in this elevation facing the neighbouring dwelling.

The proposal would result in windows at the first floor being 4 metres closer to the side 
elevation of neighbouring property to the rear, 10 Rival Moor Road. However, there is 
established hedging on the eastern boundary between these properties and there were 
no first floor facing windows visible from this standing in the garden of 8 Rival Moor 
Road.  A distance of 13.4 metres would remain between the properties.

The proposal would be sufficiently distanced, orientated and designed so as not to 
have an unacceptable effect on the amenities of the neighbouring properties, in 
particular to their outlook, privacy or available light.  Having regard to the above, the 
proposal is compliant with policies CP27 and CP29 of the JCS.

3. Impact upon scale and character of dwelling and impact on the character of the area

Saved Policy HE2 of the Local Plan requires that alterations and extensions to 
buildings are designed to take account of the design, scale, and character of the 
original building, its plot size and its setting.



Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that 
respect the area's particular characteristics. It requires that developments are 
sympathetic to their setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship 
to adjoining buildings, spaces around buildings, and that development should make a 
positive contribution to the overall appearance of the area.

The proposed extension would be of a subservient size in relation to the host dwelling. 
The proposed fenestration would relate to the existing, and the propose roof form 
would reflect the existing. The extension has been slightly set back from the south 
facing elevation (visible from the streetscene) so as to break the massing and appear 
subservient.  In addition, the ridge height and eaves height are set down from the 
existing thus representing good design.

The scale and bulk of the proposal would be in keeping with the existing property and 
surrounding buildings and would not appear overly dominant in the streetscene or 
wider area. The dwelling would not be unbalanced by the proposal and existing 
features such as ridge heights, eaves heights and other proportions would be reflected 
in the extension.

The plot is of a size that can easily accommodate the proposal without appearing 
cramped.

Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP29 of the JCS, 
policy HE2 of the Local Plan and BEP 1 of the Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan.

4. Highway implications

Policy CP31 of the JCS requires that regard is had to any impact on the safety and 
convenience of the public highway.

The proposal would result in the addition of another bedroom resulting in a four 
bedroomed property. The site plan indicates that three cars can be parked on the 
frontage of the property without the loss of the soft boundary treatment.

Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP31 of the JCS.

5. Impact on the South Downs National Park

The application site lies within the South Downs National Park (SDNP) and therefore 
the proposal is assessed in relation to its impact on the SDNP purposes. The SDNP 
has two statutory purposes; the first purpose is to conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area and the second purpose is to promote 
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the 
National Park by the public.



The proposal would accord with the purposes of the SDNP.

9 Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be acceptable as it would be in scale and character with 
the dwelling, would not detract from the character and appearance of the area, would 
not have an unacceptable impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and 
would not have an adverse effect on the safety and function of the highway network. 
As such, the proposal is in compliance with the relevant policies of the East Hampshire 
District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, the Petersfield Neighbourhood Plan and the 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review. The proposal would be in 
compliance with the purposes of the SDNP.

10 Reason for Recommendation and Conditions

It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons and subject to the 
conditions set out below.

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended)/To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2. Approved Plans

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application".

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-enacting or 
modifying that Order) no window(s) or door(s) shall at any time be installed in the north 
elevation of the extension hereby permitted.
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining residential property.

4. The external materials to be used shall match, as closely as possible, in type, 
colour, and texture those of the existing building unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority.
Reason - To ensure that a harmonious visual relationship is achieved between the new 
and the existing developments.



5. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until space for the 
parking of 3 vehicles has been made within the site in accordance with drawing no. 
17025-500.  The parking spaces shall be retained for this purpose thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate parking provision is made, in the interests of highway 
safety.

11. Crime and Disorder Implications 
11.1 It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder implications. 

12. Human Rights Implications 
12.1 This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case law and any 

interference with an individual’s human rights is considered to be proportionate to the 
aims sought to be realised. 

13. Equality Act 2010 
13.1 Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s equality duty 

as contained within the Equality Act 2010. 

14. Proactive Working 
In this instance the applicant was provided with pre-application advice.  The application 
was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was required.

Contact Officer: Rosie Virgo 
Tel: 01730 234245
email: rosie.virgo@easthants.gov.uk

Appendix 2 – Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application

The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the 
following plans and documents submitted:

Plan Type Reference Version Date on Plan Status
Application Form - 
Application form

05.12.2017 Submitted

Application Documents - CIL 
Form Additional information

05.12.2017 Submitted

OS Extract - Location plan 05.12.2017 Submitted
Plans - Site plan 17025-500 05.12.2017 Submitted
Plans - Proposed ground 
floor plan

17025-103 05.12.2017 Submitted



Plans - Proposed first floor 
plan

17025-104 05.12.2017 Submitted

Plans - Proposed elevations 17025-200 05.12.2017 Submitted

Reasons: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.



SECTION 1   Item 01    8 Rival Moor Road, Petersfield, GU31 4HB

Site plan 

Elevation plan



SECTION 1   Item 01    8 Rival Moor Road, Petersfield, GU31 4HB

Ground floor plan

First floor plan




	Agenda
	 
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 21068/041 - Alton Sports Centre, Chawton Park Road, Alton, GU34 1ST
	7.(ii) 53523/009 - Land to west of Highgate House, Lyeway Lane, Ropley, Alresford
	7.(iii) 49776/001 - Land at Lynch Hill, Mill Lane, Alton
	8.(i) SDNP/17/06038/HOUS - 8 Rival Moor Road, Petersfield, GU31 4HB

